
City of Kelowna
Regular Council Meeting

AGENDA

 
Monday, September 23, 2013

1:30 pm

Council Chamber

City Hall, 1435 Water Street

Pages

1. Call to Order

This meeting is open to the public and all representations to Council form part of the
public record.  A live audio feed is being broadcast and recorded by CastaNet and a
delayed broadcast is shown on Shaw Cable.

2. Confirmation of Minutes 3 - 7

Regular PM Meeting - September 9, 2013

3. Public in Attendance

3.1 Superintendent Romanchuk, re: Quarterly Policing Report

To present the Quarterly Policing Report.

3.2 Culture Days - Poem by Rawle James

Performance of a new work by local spoken word artist Rawle James, a
representative of the local cultural community, in support of Culture Days in
Kelowna. 

4. Development Application Reports & Related Bylaws

4.1 Rezoning Application No. Z12-0062 - 2190 Cooper Road, Brian & Linda Pahl 8 - 35

Mayor to invite the Applicants, or Applicants' Representative, to come
forward.
To consider a staff recommendation NOT to rezone the subject property form
the A1 – Agriculture 1 zone to the A1t – Agriculture 1 with Agri-tourist
Accommodation zone in order to allow for agri-tourist accommodation which
would facilitate the development and operation of ten (10) recreational
vehicle sites on the subject property.

1



4.2 Report - A13-0003 ALR Exclusion 2025 Springfield Road, 2120 Cooper Road
(McIntosh Properties)

36 - 224

The applicant is requesting permission from the Agricultural Land Commission
(ALC) to exclude two properties with a combined area of approximately 9.85
ha (24.35 ac) from the Agricultural Land Reserve (ALR). The exclusion is
requested to facilitate the creation of a mixed use development. In exchange
for the exclusion, the applicant is proposing the inclusion into the ALR of 21.4
ha (53 ac) of arable land located in the Regional District of North Okanagan
(RDNO) of which 16.8 ha (41.6 ac) is planted and proposing financial support
which would go toward the improvements to the agricultural capability of six
farm sites within the Okanagan and topsoil relocation to be used for future
land remediation.

4.3 Extension Report OCP10-0008 Z10-0040 - 2149, 2159, 2169, 2179, 2189
Pandosy St (Marrington, Balla)

225 - 229

To consider a final extension to facilitate the rezoning of the subject property
from the RU6-Two Dwelling Housing zone to the HD2-Health District 2 zone in
order to permit the construction of the proposed mixed-use development.

5. Bylaws for Adoption (Development Related)

5.1 Bylaw No.10881 Z13-0026 - 330 Taylor Road (Comfort Crafted Homes Inc) 230 - 230

To consider adoption of Bylaw No.10881 - Z13-0026, 330 Taylor Road, in order
to rezone from the RU1-Large Lot Housing zone to the RU6-Two Dewlling
Housing zone.

6. Non-Development Reports & Related Bylaws

6.1 Report to Council Sept 23 - Lease to Okanagan Symphony 231 - 267

To obtain Council endorsement of a five (5) year lease to Okanagan Symphony
Orchestra Society for the use of the house at 865 Bernard Avenue.

7. Bylaws for Adoption (Non-Development Related)

7.1 Bylaw No.10863 - Amendment No. 2 to Development Applications Procedures
Bylaw No. 10540

268 - 268

To consider adoption of Bylaw No. 10863 that amends Development
Application Procedures Bylaw No.10540.

8. Mayor and Councillor Items

9. Termination

2



3



4



5



6



7



REPORT TO COUNCIL 
 
 
 

Date: September 11, 2013 

RIM No. 1250-30 

To: City Manager 

From: Land Use Management, Community Sustainability (GS) 

Application: Z12-0062 Owner: 
Brian Pahl 
Linda Pahl 

Address: 2190 Cooper Road Applicant: 
Brian Pahl 
Linda Pahl 

Subject: Rezoning Application - Agri-tourist Accommodation 

Existing OCP Designation: Resource Protection Area (REP) 

Existing Zone: A1 - Agriculture 

Proposed Zone: A1t - Agriculture 1 with Agri-tourist Accommodation 

 

1.0 Recommendation 

THAT Rezoning Application No. Z12-0062 to amend the City of Kelowna Zoning Bylaw No. 8000 by 
changing the zoning classification of Lot A, District Lot 128, ODYD Plan KAP80629 located at 2190 
Cooper Road, Kelowna, BC from the A1 - Agriculture zone to the A1t - Agriculture 1 with Agri-
tourist Accommodation zone NOT be considered by Council. 

2.0 Purpose  

To consider a staff recommendation NOT to rezone the subject property form the A1 – 
Agriculture 1 zone to the A1t – Agriculture 1 with Agri-tourist Accommodation zone in order to 
allow for agri-tourist accommodation which would facilitate the development and operation of 
ten (10) recreational vehicle sites on the subject property. 

3.0 Land Use Management 

Agri-tourist accommodation is a “permitted use” in the Agricultural Land Reserve (ALR).  While 
the Agricultural Land Commission (ALC) permits the use, the activity is not designated as a “farm 
use” and may be regulated or prohibited by a local government bylaw. 

Introduced in 2010, the City’s A1t zoning requirement resulted from past experiences with this 
land use.  The objectives were to ensure that the intended goals are better achieved; and the 
use does not create undue hardship on adjacent and nearby properties, owners and residents.  
This rezoning application represents just the second rezoning to be considered under the new 
regulations and no properties have been rezoned to date.   

8



Z12-0062 – Page 2 

 
 

The applicants are proposing to develop ten (10) recreational vehicle (RV) sites on the subject 
property.  Ten is the maximum number of units available to the subject property (1 unit / ha 
over 4 ha), and is the maximum for any parcel regardless of size (as per ALC regulations).     

The subject property is well situated in many respects and is serviced by a number of urban 
services including a straight, paved road and the ability to connect to community water and 
sewer.  The location is also central to many City amenities. 

From an agricultural perspective, the subject property reflects excellent agricultural potential.  
As a larger property (>10 ha), the parcel contains all of the necessary attributes of a productive 
agricultural parcel capable of generating relatively high farm income.     

While staff are supportive of agritourism and agri-tourist accommodation in general terms, staff 
support is reserved for instances where these activities can reasonably be expected to augment 
and enhance the principal use of agriculture.  Staff are reasonably concerned with the lack of 
agricultural production and with the owners admitted lack of experience with farming.  Both ALC 
and City Policy and Regulations are clear that agri-tourist accommodation is intended to support 
legitimate agricultural operations as an accessory use.  Existing examples of agri-tourist 
accommodation developed prior to the requirement to rezone to the A1t zone demonstrate the 
inherent dangers where agriculture has become accessory to the accommodation, if existent at 
all. 

While supporting the proposed rezoning (3 votes to 1) AAC members noted concerns with the 
proposal and the potential for negative impacts to agriculture.  The AAC noted the location is 
among an agriculturally productive area with orchards located directly adjacent to the site of the 
proposed RV units.  AAC concerns were primarily with respect to farmers’ ability to carry out 
operations relatively unimpeded.  Farm operators often apply chemicals to control pests and 
weeds which can result in spray drift ending up on adjacent properties.  To reduce drift, farmers 
often spray in the early or late hours of the day when wind speeds are typically at their lowest.  
AAC members have commented on the difficulty of buffering impacts in general.    

Staff share the AAC’s concerns with respect to the impact on adjacent landowners operations and 
have concerns that even an extensive vegetative buffer (e.g. +20 metres including a berm, trees 
and shrubs) will provide sufficient mitigation.  The applicants are proposing a 10 metre wide 
buffer with turf and a “privacy hedge along property line”. 

Conclusions 

Staff suggest that the proposed rezoning is premature at this time.  Council is being asked to 
place a great deal of faith that the proponents are capable of operating a working farm that is 
worthy of agri-tourist accommodation without a proven track record.  The owners are 
encouraged to farm the land much closer to its potential and to demonstrate an ability to 
operate a working farm for a minimum of two full growing seasons.    

Should Council support the proposed rezoning, staff recommend that Council require a minimum 
20 metre wide buffer consistent with Schedule “A” to help limit the negative impacts.  Staff also 
recommend that a Farm Plan prepared by a qualified professional outlining planting options and 
rotation schedule based on soil types and agricultural limitations for the balance of the land not 
presently productive be provided as part of the Development Permit.     

In sum, the subject property is comprised of exceptional agricultural capability and has all of the 
necessary elements to be a productive farm.  Agriculture is the intended principal use in the A1 
zone and in the ALR, though provisions have been made to help augment farm income with non-
farm uses such as agri-tourist accommodation.  While supportive of the use, staff support is 
limited to those instances where a farm has been proven to be productive (including a large 

9



Z12-0062 – Page 3 

 
 

investment into farming), the agri-tourist accommodation will result in limited impact on 
agriculture potential and will remain accessory to farming. 

 

4.0 Proposal 

4.1 Background/Project Description 

The area proposed to be developed for agri-tourist accommodation is currently unplanted (see 
Figures 1 & 2 below).  Based on airphoto interpretation, it is believed that less than 3.0 ha of the 
approximately 10.7 ha subject property are currently in production (orchard) and the remainder 
cultivated and free of agricultural production in 2011 and 2012. 

The owners note the following plans for the subject property (see attached rationale):  

“With the existing home on the property being of an age & condition no longer economical to 
use, we are planning a new home in the location shown on the attached plans.  A new shop for 
farm machinery maintenance & repair is necessary as well. With the location of the proposed 
new home & shop, the 10 RV sites is best suited between the new buildings and Byrns Road.  
No damage to fields or orchard trees by RV vehicles.  Topsoil will be removed from the 
location of the road & RV sites & utilized in other areas of the farm”. 

And further: 

“All sites will be landscaped with grass & trees, and the road & sites area will be graveled. A restroom 
facility will also be provided”. 

4.2 Site Context 

The subject property is located along Cooper, Benvoulin and Byrns Roads in the South 
Pandosy/KLO Sector of the City.  The property is adjacent to urban land uses including single 
family and multi-family residential development, and is also adjacent to productive agricultural 
land (orchard). The subject property has a land use designation of Resource Protection Area in 
the City’s Official Community Plan and is zoned for Agriculture (A1).  The property is also within 
the ALR and outside of the City’s Permanent Growth Boundary.   

The subject property is within the City’s service area with respect to water and sanitary sewer.    
As such, if successful, the proposed agri-tourist accommodation would be connected to both City 
water and sanitary sewer.  The Benvoulin Water Users irrigation ditch flowing from Mission Creek 
is located along the northern property boundary and provides irrigation water to the subject 
property. 

Directly north are two agricultural properties (i.e. 2120 Cooper & 2025 Springfield Road) which 
have an active ALR Exclusion file under consideration. 

An existing mobile home is located on the adjacent farm parcel (2050-2060 Byrns Rd) in close 
proximity to the shared property line and in close proximity to the proposed development. 

The subject property is within a Farm Protection Development Permit and the proposed 
development of agri-tourist accommodation will require a Development Permit. 

4.3 Parcel Summary 

Parcel Size: 10.69 ha (26.4 ac) 
Elevation:  359 – 365 masl 

No soils or agricultural capability reporting was required for the purposes of this rezoning.  
However, the Canada Land Inventory (CLI) shows that the subject property has the potential for 

10



Z12-0062 – Page 4 

 
 

land capability to increase through improvements such as dewatering and grading which would 
render the site 80% Class 2 and 20% Class 3 (i.e. prime).  Soils of this quality are rare in the 
Okanagan context. 

  

11



Z12-0062 – Page 5 

 
 

The surrounding properties are zoned as follows: 

Direction Zoning ALR Land Use 

North A1 – Agriculture 1 Yes Agricultural 

South A1 – Agriculture 1 No Rural Residential 

East 

RM3 – Low Density Multiple Housing 
RM5 – Medium Density Multiple Housing 

A1 – Agriculture 1 
A1- Agriculture 1 

No 
No 
No 
Yes 

Multi-family Residential 
Multi-family Residential 

Rural Residential 
Agricultural 

West A1 – Agriculture 1 Yes Agricultural 

 

Figure 1: Proposed RV Site (in the foreground) Looking East Along Byrns Road (October 1, 2012) 

   
 

12



Z12-0062 – Page 6 

 
 

Figure 2: Proposed RV Site (foreground) Looking North from Byrns Road (October 1, 2012)  

 
 
Figure 3: Western Property Line with Mobile Home on Adjacent Property (Google Street View – Date 

Unknown) 

 

 

13



Z12-0062 – Page 7 

 
 

Figure 3: Subject Property and Existing Dwelling and Orchard Looking West from Cooper Road (Google 
Street View – Date Unknown) 

 

4.4 Context Map :  2190 Cooper Road 

 

 

 

 

 

14



Z12-0062 – Page 8 

 
 

4.5 Subject Property Map :  2190 Cooper Road 

 

4.6 Development Criteria 

CRITERIA PROPOSAL ZONE REQUIREMENTS 

Minimum Lot Area 10.69 ha = 10 units 4 min, 10 max 

Maximum setback from road meets 30.0 m  

Minimum distance from lot line TBD 10.0 m 

Maximum Site Coverage <5% 5% 

5.0 Current Development Regulations & Policies 

5.1 Zoning Bylaw 8000 

Section 2.3 – General Definitions1 

Agritourist Accommodation means the seasonal availability of short term accommodation for 
tourists on a farm, orchard, or vineyard in association with an agri-tourism activity which is 
subordinate and secondary to the principal agricultural use. Typical uses include but are not 
limited to seasonal farm cabins, and campsites/recreational vehicle sites. Seasonal, in this 
instance, means the accommodation must be available for use only between April 1 and October 
31 of each year. 

 

  

                                                
1 City of Kelowna Zoning Bylaw 8000 – Section 2; p. 2-2. 

Existing 
Dwelling 

Existing 
Orchard 
(~2.9 ha) 

Location of 
Proposed RV 
Sites, Home 
& Shop 

Farm 
Accessory 
Structures 

15



Z12-0062 – Page 9 

 
 

Section 11.1 – Agriculture 12 

a) Purpose - Agri-tourist accommodation shall be accessory and subordinate to a legitimate 
agriculture operation. The intent is to augment or subsidize and not to replace or 
complete with farm income. 

c) Site coverage for agri-tourist accommodation shall not exceed 5% inclusive of buildings, 
landscaping, access, and servicing/sanitary facilities. 

5.2 2030 Official Community Plan: Greening Our Future 

Objective 5.33 Protect and enhance local agriculture3. 

Policy. 1 Protect Agricultural Land. Retain the agricultural land base by supporting the ALR and 
by protecting agricultural lands from development, except as otherwise noted in the City of 
Kelowna Agricultural Plan. Ensure that the primary use of agricultural land is agriculture, 
regardless of parcel size. 

Policy .6 Agri-tourist Accommodation. Agri-tourist accommodation will only be approved and 
operated in a manner that supports agricultural production and which limits the impact on 
agricultural land, City services and the surrounding community. 

Objective 5.34 Preserve productive agricultural land4. 

Policy .3 Homeplating. Locate buildings and structures, including farm help housing and farm 
retail sales area and structures, on agricultural parcels in close proximity to one another and 
where appropriate, near the existing road frontage. The goal should be to maximize use of 
existing infrastructure and reduce impacts on productive agricultural lands. 

Farm Protection DP Guidelines5 

Objectives 

 Protect farm land and farm operations; 

 Minimize the impact of urban encroachment and land use conflicts on agricultural land; 

 Minimize conflicts created by activities designated as farm use by ALC regulation and non-
farm uses within agricultural areas. 

Guidelines 

1.2 On agricultural lands, where appropriate, locate all buildings and structures, including farm 
help housing and farm retail sales, within a contiguous area (i.e. homeplate). Exceptions may be 
permitted where the buildings or structures are for farm use only; 

1.3 On agricultural and non-agricultural lands, establish and maintain a landscape buffer along 
the agricultural and/or property boundary, except where development is for a permitted farm 
use that will not encourage public attendance and does not concern additional residences 
(including secondary suites), in accordance with the following criteria: 

1.3.1 Consistent with guidelines provided by Ministry of Agriculture “Guide to Edge Planning” 
and the ALC report “Landscape Buffer Specifications” or its replacement; 
1.3.2 Incorporate landscaping that reinforces the character of agricultural lands. A majority 
of plant material selected should include low maintenance, indigenous vegetation; 
1.3.3 Preserve all healthy existing mature trees located within the buffer area; 

                                                
2 City of Kelowna Zoning Bylaw 8000 – Section 11; p. A1-1 to A1-4. 
3 City of Kelowna 2030 Official Community Plan (2011) – Development Process Chapter; p. 5.35.  
4 City of Kelowna 2030 Official Community Plan (2011) – Development Process Chapter; p. 5.36.  
5 City of Kelowna 2030 Official Community Plan (2011) – Farm Protection Development Permit Chapter; p. 15.2 – 15.4.  

16



Z12-0062 – Page 10 

 
 

1.3.4 Integrate double rows of trees, including coniferous trees, and dense vegetation into 
the buffer; 
1.3.5 Install and maintain a continuous fence along the edge of agricultural land. A permeable 
fence which allows for the movement of wildlife (i.e. split rail) in combination with dense and 
continuous evergreen hedge is preferred. Impermeable fencing will not be permitted. 

5.3 City of Kelowna Agriculture Plan 

Agri-tourist Accommodation6. Pursue an amendment to the Zoning Bylaw to include agri-tourist 
accommodation uses in conjunction with bona fide agricultural operation, consistent with 
conditions under the Land Commission Policy #375/97. 

5.4 Agricultural Land Commission Agricultural Land Reserve Use, Subdivision and Procedure 
Regulation7 

Part 1 - Definitions and Interpretation 

1(1) "agri-tourism" means a tourist activity, service or facility accessory to land that is 
classified as a farm under the Assessment Act. 

Part 2 –Permitted uses for land in an agricultural land reserve 

3(1)  The following land uses are permitted in an agricultural land reserve unless otherwise 
prohibited by a local government bylaw or, for lands located in an agricultural land 
reserve that are treaty settlement lands, by a law of the applicable first nation 
government:  

 (a)  accommodation for agri-tourism on a farm if  
(i)  all or part of the parcel on which the accommodation is located is classified as a farm 
under the Assessment Act,  
(ii)  the accommodation is limited to 10 sleeping units in total of seasonal campsites, 
seasonal cabins or short term use of bedrooms including bed and breakfast bedrooms 
under paragraph (d), and 
(iii) the total developed area for buildings, landscaping and access for the accommodation 
is less than 5% of the parcel@ 

6.0 Technical Comments 

6.1 Building & Permitting Department 
a. Drawings for sewer and water including details of the actual connections for the RV’s will 

be required at Building Permit stage.  
b. A water meter and possibly an upgrade to the water service are necessary. 

6.2 Development Engineering Department 
See attached. 

6.3 Fire Department 
A six metre road width should be maintained at all times for emergency vehicle access. 

6.4 Public Health Inspector 
No concerns with drinking water or wastewater disposal based on the referenced property 
having connection to the City of Kelowna municipal drinking water supply and sewer systems. 

  

                                                
6 City of Kelowna Agriculture Plan; p. 85. 

17



Z12-0062 – Page 11 

 
 

7.0 Application Chronology 

Date of Application Received: September 19, 2012  

Agricultural Advisory Committee: October 11, 2012 

The above noted application was reviewed by the Agricultural Advisory Committee at the 
meeting on October 11, 2012 (See Minutes, attached) and the following recommendation was 
passed (Vote: 3 – 1): 

THAT the Agricultural Advisory Committee support Rezoning Application No. Z12-0062, for 
2190 Cooper Road, by Brian and Linda Pahl, to rezone the subject property from the A1 - 
Agriculture zone to the A1t - Agriculture 1 with Agri-tourist Accommodation in order to 
facilitate the development and operation of ten (10) recreational vehicle sites which may be 
operated on a seasonal basis subordinate to the agricultural operation. 

Anecdotal Comment 
The AAC raised concern with the potential urban/rural conflict. Specifically the drifting of 
pesticides and herbicides both onsite and on adjacent parcels into the RV area normal hours 
of operation for farmers (early in the morning and late at night) were of greatest concern. 
The AAC strongly recommends sufficient buffering with tall trees, shrubs and fencing to 
minimize the interface concerns. The AAC also recommends that landscape buffering be 
required prior to the applicant/owner being granted an Occupancy Permit or Business 
License.  

 
Date Application Placed On Hold: October 23, 2012 

Direction to Proceed:   April 15, 2013 

Initial Consideration Scheduled: May 27, 2013 

Date Application Placed On Hold:  May 27, 2013 

Direction to Proceed:   September 11, 2013 

8.0 Alternate Recommendation  

THAT Rezoning Application No. Z12-0062 to amend the City of Kelowna Zoning Bylaw No. 8000 by 
changing the zoning classification of Lot A, District Lot 128, ODYD Plan KAP80629 located at 2190 
Cooper Road, Kelowna, BC from the A1 - Agriculture zone to the A1t - Agriculture 1 with Agri-
tourist Accommodation zone be considered by Council; 

AND THAT the Zone Amending Bylaw be forwarded to a Public Hearing for further consideration;  

AND THAT final adoption of the zone amending bylaw be considered subsequent to the 
requirements of the Development Engineering Branch being met; 

AND THAT final adoption of the zone amending bylaw be considered subsequent to the issuance 
of a Farm Protection Development Permit which includes a Farm Plan prepared by a Qualified 
Professional (Professional Agrologist) outlining planting options and rotation schedule based on 
soil types and agricultural limitations for the balance of the land not presently productive; 

AND THAT the Farm Protection Development Permit require that the site be developed to include 
a minimum 20.0 metre wide Noise, Airborne Particle & Visual Screen (buffer) consistent with 
attached “Schedule A”;  

                                                                                                                                                             
7 Agricultural Land Reserve Use, Subdivision and Procedure Regulation; Retrieved from: 
http://www.alc.gov.bc.ca/legislation/Reg/ALR_Use-Subd-Proc_Reg.htm#sec3 

18

http://www.alc.gov.bc.ca/legislation/Reg/ALR_Use-Subd-Proc_Reg.htm#sec3


Z12-0062 – Page 12 

 
 

AND FURTHER THAT Council direct staff to not issue a Business License to operate an RV Park 
until one full growing season has passed and where the Qualified Professional has monitored the 
production and harvesting and advises that the results are satisfactory. 

Report prepared by: 

     
Greg Sauer, Environment & Land Use Planner 
 
 

Reviewed by:    Todd Cashin, Manager, Environment & Land Use 
 

Approved for Inclusion  Shelley Gambacort, Director, Subdivision, Agriculture & 
Environment 

Attachments: 

Schedule “A”: Buffer Types – A.4: Noise, Airborne Particle & Visual Screen (1 page) 
Subject property/zoning map & ALR map (2 pages) 
BC Land Inventory – Land Capability and Soil Classification (4 pages) 
AAC Minutes (3 pages) 
Development Engineering Comments (1 page) 
Landowner’s proposal (4 pages) 
 

19



20



21



22



23



24



25



26



27



28



29



30



31



32



33



34



35



REPORT TO COUNCIL 
 
 

Date: September 17, 2013 

RIM No. 1210-21 

To: City Manager 

Application: A13-0003 Owner: McIntosh Properties Ltd. 

Address: 
2025 Springfield Road 
2120 Cooper Road 

Applicant: Kent – Macpherson Appraisals 

Subject: A13-0003 Report to Council (Revised) 

Existing OCP Designation: Resource Protection Area 

Existing Zone: A1 – Agriculture 1 

 

1.0 Recommendation 

THAT Agriculture Land Reserve appeal A13-0003 for Lot 1, District Lot 128, Osoyoos Division Yale 
District, Plan 18971, except Plan 43996 located at 2025 Springfield Road and Lot B, District Lot 
128, Osoyoos Division Yale District, Plan 970 except Plans 36410, 41244, KAP47295 and H12895 
located at 2120 Cooper Road for exclusion of land in the ALR pursuant to Section 30(1) of the 
Agricultural Land Commission Act, be supported by Municipal Council;  
 
AND THAT Municipal Council directs staff to forward the subject application to the Agricultural 
Land Commission. 

2.0 Purpose 

The applicant is requesting permission from the Agricultural Land Commission (ALC) to exclude 
two properties with a combined area of approximately 9.85 ha (24.35 ac) from the Agricultural 
Land Reserve (ALR).  The exclusion is requested to facilitate the creation of a mixed use 
development. 
 
In exchange for the exclusion, the applicant is proposing the inclusion into the ALR of 21.4 ha (53 
ac) of arable land located in the Regional District of North Okanagan (RDNO) of which 16.8 ha 
(41.6 ac) is planted and proposing financial support which would go toward the improvements to 
the agricultural capability of six farm sites within the Okanagan and topsoil relocation to be used 
for future land remediation. 

3.0 Land Use Management 

The applicant has provided a comprehensive submission in support of their proposed exclusion 
application. The submission reflects significant effort and deliberation, putting forward a 
package of mitigation and compensation measures for the loss of ~9.8 ha (~24 acres) of 
agricultural land.    In summary the applicant’s proposal is comprised of the following: 

36



A13-0003 – Page 2 

 
 

 Exclusion from the ALR of two lots comprising 9.8 ha (24.35 acres) of land south of 
Springfield Road. 

 Inclusion into the ALR of 21.4 ha (16.8 ha/41.6 acres of land in production and 4.6 
ha/11.4 acres unplanted), located at Siwash Creek Road in the RDNO (owned by Mr. 
Geen). 

 $1,750,000 to be guaranteed for agricultural improvements to existing ALR Farm Lands 
throughout the Okanagan:  

o $1,000,000 to go towards the improvement of 27.9 ha (69 acres) of land (leased by 
Mr. Geen); 

o $315,000 to go towards the installation of 9 wind machines to improve frost 
protection on 4 existing cherry orchards (owned by Mr. Geen); and 

o Balance ($435,000) to go towards the improvement of agriculture on land owned or 
leased by Mr. Geen. 

 Approximately 15,000 cubic yards of topsoil to be removed from the subject property and 
relocated for future remediation of an agricultural property in Southeast Kelowna at a 
cost of approximately $335,000. 

The proposed ALR exclusion would provide an approximate 10 hectare greenfield development 
site.  Upon it is proposed a multi-use development that could support 500 residential units1 with 
an additional approximately 9290 m2 (100,000 ft2) each of commercial and office space (i.e. 
~18,580 m2/200,000 ft2 total).   

From an urban land use perspective, while the planning is conceptual in nature, the proposed 
development appears consistent with the C4 – Urban Centre Commercial zone.  The subject 
properties while currently rural/agricultural in nature are adjacent to the ‘Midtown’ and in close 
proximity to the ‘Capri’ Urban Centres.   

Impact of Proposed Development on Agriculture   

i. Urban/Rural Interface 

The development of the agricultural subject properties for urban uses will serve to shift the 
existing urban/agricultural interface at Springfield Road from currently inactive agricultural land 
to actively farmed land.  This factor was among the primary concerns cited by the City’s 
Agricultural Advisory Committee who recommended non-support for the proposed exclusion (see 
Section 7 below and attached AAC Minutes).  The exclusion property (2025 Springfield) has 360 
meters of road frontage along Springfield Road.  While urban/rural interface is known to be a 
significant issue that can negatively impact agricultural production, roadways can buffer 
agricultural uses from urban uses and also provide a defensible boundary.   

While the proposal is for a net increase in ALR land (i.e. 9.8 ha excluded and 21.4 ha included = + 
11.55 ha), the math is not this simple.  The agricultural land situated in the Regional District of 
North Okanagan and proposed to be placed into the ALR is higher elevation land originally 
assumed to not meet the criteria established for ALR lands.  While the land has been significantly 
improved due to the efforts of Mr. Geen, the land may now be realizing its highest use for the 
owner/operator (versus woodlot, hay field or rangeland as examples).  If the intent is for the 
land to be agriculturally productive for the foreseeable future it is in Mr. Geen’s best interest to 
include the land into the ALR.     

                                                
1 Based on the 20 year average household size of 2.15 persons per unit, it is expected that the site could accommodate approximately 
1075 people.  Actual numbers would depend highly on the units provided (e.g. bachelor, 1, 2, 3 bedroom). 

37



A13-0003 – Page 3 

 
 

Staff are aware that the ALC is interested in working with local governments to plan for growth in 
a responsible manner.  Under this application the area in the ALR will be increased however, 
there is no denying that Kelowna’s immediate agricultural land base will be reduced as a result.   

i. Agricultural Capability  

The land/soil of the inclusion and exclusion properties are not equivalent (i.e. they are not like 
for like) and should not be considered at a 1:1 ratio.  The agricultural assessment for the subject 
properties finds that the lands are improvable to Class 2 with salinity being a limiting factor and 
restricting the land from being improved to Class 12.  The inclusion land meanwhile has a larger 
range of soil capability and limitations with Class 2 and Class 3 ratings and with topographical and 
stoniness (i.e. coarse textured soil conditions)3 constraints identified.  At approximately 600 
metres above sea level (masl), the elevation of the proposed inclusion results in a reduced 
agricultural capability relative to the Kelowna properties at 340 masl.  The lower elevation of the 
Kelowna properties results in a longer growing season and would not require wind machines and 
other weather and climate interventions necessary at higher elevations.    

The applicant/owner has amended the application following the meeting with the AAC to include 
a plan for relocation of the productive topsoil (estimated at 15,000 m3) from the site to other 
locations with the intent of improving agricultural capability elsewhere.  While there is merit in 
relocating the high quality soil from this site to others with lower quality soils or where the 
topsoil depth is relatively thin, it is difficult to quantify the net impact of these efforts beyond a 
large capital expenditure to do so. 

ii. Agricultural Investment 

To compensate for the exclusion of the ALR land the applicants are proposing an investment into 
future agriculture enhancements through the provision of $1,750,000.  In addition, the applicant 
is proposing to relocate the soil from the subject property at a cost of $355,000.  Given the City’s 
vast agricultural land base and relatively good agricultural capability, investment into 
agricultural production is encouraged. 

Specifically, the application proposes a security in the amount $1,750,000 as a financial 
contribution to be held in trust and in turn Mr. Geen proposes to make a $3.66 million investment 
into four farms in the Okanagan4.  The intent of this investment is to enhance the productivity 
and profitability of these farms.  It is, however, unclear whether or not the investment into these 
agricultural improvements would be made (now or in the future) regardless of this proposed 
exclusion as part of normal operations and to meet growing needs for BC product (e.g. sweet 
cherries now, or another commodity in the future). 

The decision to make an investment into agricultural land or any agricultural commodity should 
be based on a business case.  It appears that with respect to Cholla Hills farm (the inclusion 
component of this submission), a decision was made to venture onto lands that while outside of 
the ALR, possessed good agricultural capability, with the land value making the improvements 
economically viable.  City staff are very supportive of this type of pioneering approach, 
especially in an era where most of the focus is on the difficulty of farming on existing ALR land 
which is known to be productive albeit often unaffordable to purchase solely for agricultural 
production.  With improvements to the land, selective planting, and good orchard maintenance, 
Mr. Geen appears to have created a very viable agricultural operation producing nearly 700 tons 

                                                
2 Class 1 soils have no significant limitations in use for crops, while Class 2 soils have moderate limitations that restrict the range of 
crops or require moderate conservation practices. 
3 Class 3 soils have moderately severe limitations that restrict the range of crops or require special conservation practices. 
4 The applicant notes that “Orchardist David Geen has committed to utilizing the funds received as a result of the inclusion of his 
lands into the Agricultural Land Reserve, plus additional funds of his own, totalling $3,665,000 towards substantive agricultural 
improvements to existing farm land.  The agricultural improvements will be made to lands that are either owned or leased by David 
Geen within the Central and North Okanagan”. 

38



A13-0003 – Page 4 

 
 

of a valuable agricultural commodity (valued at $2.5 million per annum according to the 
application5).  It is therefore likely that continued investment (e.g. trellis, covers, wind 
machines) will make good business sense for Mr. Geen.  

Public Correspondence 

The City has received a number of pieces of public correspondence with respect to the proposed 
exclusion (see attached).  The relatively high number of submissions (as ALR Exclusion files 
generally do not generate a great deal of public input) speaks to the significance of the subject 
properties (including the sheer size and high visibility adjacent Springfield Road).  Members of 
the public also attended the AAC meeting on February 7, 20136. 

The applicant obtained a single letter from an adjacent landowner (i.e. 2190 Cooper Road) 
stating that they have “no objection” to the exclusion.   

The remaining correspondence consists of 18 letters in opposition to the proposed exclusion.  The 
majority of the letters were generated by residents of the INvue condo (2040 Springfield Road) 
located directly north of the subject properties (across Springfield Road).   

Conclusions: 

The staff recommendation considers a multitude of factors as discussed above in arriving at a 
position of support.  Staff also had the opportunity to tour a number of Mr. Geen’s properties 
including the packing plant, inclusion lands and a number of the improvement lands.  Staff were 
very impressed by Mr. Geen and the sophistication of his farm.    

To summarize, in support of the proposed exclusion application the applicant is proposing the 
following: 

 Inclusion into the ALR of land currently in production, located at Siwash Creek Road in the 
RDNO. 

 $1,750,000 to be guaranteed for agricultural improvements to existing ALR Farm Lands 
throughout the Okanagan: 

o $1,000,000 to go towards the improvement of 27.9 ha (69 acres) of leased land; 

o $315,00 will go towards the installation of 9 wind machines to improve frost 
protection on 4 existing cherry orchards; and 

o The balance to go towards the improvement of agriculture on land owned or 
leased by Mr. Geen. 

 Approximately 15,000 cubic yards of topsoil to be removed from the subject property 
relocated in order to remediate an agricultural property in the area. 

Unlike most ALR files which have a heavy focus on the impact to agricultural land, this proposal 
also had an emphasis on considering the impact to future urban use and how the City evolves.  In 
an effort to undertake this evaluation, staff reviewed the large proposed development through a 
contemporary lens.  Paramount to this consideration is the question of need for additional 
developable land within the Permanent Growth Boundary. 

The requested exclusion at this time challenges the need to ensure orderly redevelopment of the 
City’s already large Urban Centres.   

                                                
5 Pers. Comm.. Mr. David Geen 
6 It is rare that public attends meetings of the AAC. 

39



A13-0003 – Page 5 

 
 

However, this is a unique situation where the Agriculture Plan specifically states that the City 
will continue to support the future exclusion or non-farm use of these two properties given the 
proximity to a major Urban Town Centre and location along a major City arterial road.  The OCP 
Policies acknowledge this position, however, it does not absolve the applicant from addressing 
the impacts that the development of the property would have on the current Future Land Use 
designations and Permanent Growth Boundary alignment. 

Should the exclusion application be granted by the ALC, staff recommend that an Area 
Redevelopment Plan be required for this area in order to determine the best use and density. 
Proposing a land use change for this area must, for example, take into consideration: 

 The growth management impacts as the subject properties were not identified in the OCP 
as necessary to meet the future growth needs of Kelowna for the 20 year time horizon;  

 The economic and investment impacts on the other Urban Centres which currently have 
land designated and available for redevelopment; and 

 Assessment of the impacts on the 20 year Servicing Plan and Financing Strategy.  

4.0 Proposal 

4.1 Background/Site Context 

The subject properties are located on the south side of Springfield Road, between Spall and 
Cooper Roads.  The subject properties are located within the Central City Sector of the City, and 
outside of the area designated as the Permanent Growth Boundary (Map 1 below). 

Parcel Summary: 

2025 Springfield Road 

Parcel Size: 3.83 Ha (9.48 ac) 
Elevation: 361 - 364 masl 

2120 Cooper Road 

Parcel Size: 6.02 Ha (14.88 ac) 
Elevation: 360 - 365 masl 

Map 1: Permanent Growth Boundary 

 

  

40



A13-0003 – Page 6 

 
 

The subject properties are located adjacent to and south of the “Midtown” Urban Centre and in 
close proximity to the Capri Landmark Urban Centre. 

Map 2: Proximity to Urban Centres 

 

Specifically, adjacent land uses are as follows: 

Orientation Zoning In ALR? Land Use 

North 
C4 – Urban Centre Commercial 
C10 – Service Commercial 

No Commercial 

South A1 – Agriculture 1 Yes Agriculture 

East 

P2 – Educational & Minor 
Institutional 

RM5 – Medium Density Multiple 
Residential Housing 

No 

Mission Creek Alliance Church 

Residential Housing 

West P4 - Utilities No FortisBC offices 

Map 3: Subject Properties - 2025 Springfield and 2125 Cooper Road 

 

Alliance Church 

Orchard Park Orchard Plaza 

Fortis BC 

Irrigation Ditch 

INvue 

41



A13-0003 – Page 7 

 
 

Photo 1: View from southwest corner (July 2013) 

 
 
Photo 2: View from the southeast of property (July 2013) 

 

  

42



A13-0003 – Page 8 

 
 

The applicant commissioned an Agricultural Capability Assessment (2012) for the two subject 
properties (see applicant’s submission starting on page 56).  This report notes that (p.3-1): 

Both properties are currently not being used for agriculture with the exception of some bee 
hives being stored at the southern Lot B property. Otherwise both properties are vacant. They 
are presently owned by Mr. Kevin Bennett, who has owned the northern Lot 1 property for 
over 4 decades and just recently purchased the southern property from the Tanaka family 
(Bennett, K., pers. comm., 2012). Mr. Bennett indicated that his family have never farmed Lot 
1, however the southern property was historically used to grow mixed fruit orchard over 30 
years ago, then was converted to commercial market vegetable garden by the Tanaka's 
between 1980-1990, at the eastern most portion of Lot B (near the residence and 
outbuildings). Mr. Bennett indicated that the over the last decade the Tanaka's have not 
grown commercial vegetables (Bennett, pers. comm., 2012). 

The assessment included a field investigation including excavating four test pits and concludes 
that the overall unimproved subclass rating at this site is Class 5A (soil moisture deficiency), 
while the improved rating of the soils is Class 2A or better with the provision of irrigation.  
Classes 1-3 are considered to be “prime” agricultural land.  The assessment also concludes that 
the previously published improved rating of 2W (soil wetness) be revised to Class 2N (salinity). 

The report cites the Soil Management Handbook for the Okanagan & Similkameen Valleys stating 
“With irrigation and fertilization both fields can be for alfalfa, annual vegetable crops, cereals, 
corn and forage crops (Gough et. al. 1994)”. 

4.2 Project Description 

The owner is proposing to exclude 9.85 hectares from the Agricultural Land Reserve to develop a 
“comprehensive, master planned medium density multifamily residential and commercial 
development”.  The goal is to develop approximately 3.6 hectares in “clusters of 4 to 6 storey 
rental apartments in an open, pedestrian-friendly, phased project”.  The apartments would 
include up to 500 units with a mix of bachelor, one bedroom and two bedroom units with most 
parking below grade. 

In addition to the residential development, an approximate 4.0 hectare commercial component is 
proposed and will be “modelled largely after the ‘Village at Park Royal’ shopping centre in North 
Vancouver”.  It is expected that the commercial component would be comprised of mainly one 
storey buildings with approximately 110,000 square feet of gross floor area. 

Office space is also being proposed in a single office building of six to 10 floors with a 10,000 
square foot footprint and 60,000 to 100,000 square feet of gross leasable area.  The applicants 
have provided conceptual site plans (pp.41 – 47 of the applicant’s submission). 

A shadow impact analysis was also completed as part of the submission and included on pages 52 
and 53.  Given that the subject properties are located on the north side of what would be the 
remnant agricultural land, no shading impacts on ALR land should be expected. 

In terms of buffering the proposed urban development from the remaining agricultural land to 
the south, a new city road is proposed to extend west from Cooper Road paralleling the southern 
property line along the entire parcel.  It is proposed that Barlee Road to the north would extend 
south to the new east/west connection.   

The applicant suggests that the new city road paralleling the subject property’s southerly 
boundary abutting the ALR lands will act as the primary buffer separating the development lands 
from the adjoining orchards.  The intent is to mitigate and minimize conflicts between the 
residential/commercial development and adjoining agricultural uses.  

  

43



A13-0003 – Page 9 

 
 

It has been proposed that a solid fence would be provided along the entire southerly boundary in 
addition to a bermed and landscaped buffer measuring 7.5 metres planted with trees and shrubs 
(see applicant’s submission, pp. 48-50). 

Proposed Inclusion 

The owner of the subject properties have teamed up with Mr. David Geen, a local orchardist, on 
this exclusion request.  In exchange for the proposed exclusion in Kelowna, the applicants are 
proposing the inclusion of 21.4 ha (53 ac) of arable land at an elevation of approximately 600 
metres.  The inclusion lands are comprised of three contiguous parcels located in the North 
Okanagan of which 16.80 ha (41.6 ac) are currently producing sweet cherries.  The proposed 
inclusion land is owned and operated by Mr. Geen.  The inclusion land is not part of this 
application and would necessitate a new application (facilitated by the RDNO) should the ALC 
view the proposed exclusion favorably.  

Prior to 2007 the proposed inclusion lands were used for cattle grazing, forage and hayfields.  In 
2007, the site was improved to include additional irrigation and a water reservoir to facilitate 
conversion of the site to more intensive agricultural uses. The lands were subsequently converted 
to high density orchard, and are currently planted in a variety of cherries. 

The agricultural capability of the proposed inclusion lands was assessed in a 2010 Agricultural 
Land Capability Assessment (see applicant’s submission beginning on page 107).  This Assessment 
determined that the three properties were comprised of Class 2 & 3 (Improved) lands limited by 
stoniness and topography.   

In addition to the area currently in production, the applicants are proposing to include non-
arable land “as part of a rational ALR boundary extension polygon”.  The non-arable land 
accounts for an additional 4.65 ha (11.5 ac). 

Agricultural Improvement Lands 

The applicants have also teamed up with Mr. Geen with the intention of improving the 
agricultural capability of a number of farm parcels already within the ALR in exchange for the 
proposed exclusion.  The properties are located within the Central Okanagan and Mr. Geen’s 
$3.66 million proposed investment includes contouring and replanting, soil amendments, 
irrigation installation, trellis installation, tree training and pruning, tree covers, fencing and 
managerial salaries and labour (see applicant’s submission beginning on page 113).  Also included 
is the proposed purchase of nine wind machines to be erected on five farms in Vernon, Lake 
Country and Kelowna.  The applicants state that approximately one half ($1.75 million) would be 
held by the ALC as a performance bond. 

Soil Relocation 

The applicants have proposed to relocate the productive layer of soil (topsoil) which they have 
estimated at 15,000 m3 from the subject properties and replace it on another property or 
properties.  The expectation is that the relocated topsoil could be used to improve the 
agricultural capability of agricultural land elsewhere.  The applicant has estimated the cost to 
relocate the soil to a site within five kilometres of the subject properties at $335,000.     

 

 

 

 

44



A13-0003 – Page 10 

 
 

5.0 Current Development Policies 

5.1 City of Kelowna 2030 Official Community Plan 

Chapter 5 – Development Process 

Objective 5.2 Develop sustainably7. 

Policy .4 Complete Communities. Support the development of complete communities with a minimum 

intensity of approximately 35 - 40 people and/or jobs per hectare to support basic transit service - a bus 

every 30 minutes. 

Objective 5.3 Focus development to designated growth areas8. 

Policy .1  Permanent Growth Boundary. Establish a Permanent Growth Boundary as identified on Map 4.1 
and Map 5.2. Support development of property outside the Permanent Growth Boundary for more 
intensive uses only to the extent permitted as per the OCP Future Land Use designations in place as of 
initial adoption of OCP Bylaw 10500, except as per Council’s specific amendment of this policy. Resource 
Protection Area designated properties not in the ALR and outside the Permanent Growth Boundary will not 
be supported for subdivision below parcel sizes of 4.0 ha (10 acres). The Permanent Growth Boundary may 
be reviewed as part of the next major OCP update. 

Policy .2 Compact Urban Form. Develop a compact urban form that maximizes the use of existing 
infrastructure and contributes to energy efficient settlement patterns. This will be done by increasing 
densities (approximately 75 - 100 people and/or jobs per ha located within a 400 metre walking distance 
of transit stops is required to support the level of transit service) through 
development, conversion, and re-development within Urban Centres (see Map 5.3) in particular and 
existing areas as per the provisions of the Generalized Future Land Use Map 4.1. 

Objective 5.33  Protect and enhance local agriculture9. 

Policy. 1 Protect Agricultural Land. Retain the agricultural land base by supporting the ALR and by 
protecting agricultural lands from development, except as otherwise noted in the City of Kelowna 
Agricultural Plan. Ensure that the primary use of agricultural land is agriculture, regardless of parcel size. 
Policy .2  ALR Exclusions. The City of Kelowna will not forward ALR exclusion applications to the ALC 
except in extraordinary circumstances where such exclusion is otherwise consistent with the goals, 
objectives and other policies of this OCP. Soil capability alone should not be used as justification for 
exclusion. 
Policy .3  Urban Uses. Direct urban uses to lands within the urban portion of the Permanent Growth 
Boundary, in the interest of reducing development and speculative pressure on agricultural lands. 

Objective 5.40 Ensure all development is consistent with the vision, goals and objectives of 
the OCP10. 
 
Policy .1 Evaluation Checklist. Evaluate development applications that require an OCP amendment on 
the basis of the extent to which they comply with underlying OCP objectives 
Policy .2 Servicing Plan. The 20 Year Servicing Plan and Financing Strategy has been developed assuming 
that growth will occur as noted in this Official Community Plan. Development in locations or of types not 
anticipated in this plan may trigger a requirement for an impact study to be prepared at developer 
expense so that impacts on the 20 Year Servicing Plan and Financing Strategy can be identified and 
addressed. The impact studies, may include, but will not necessarily be limited to preparation of advance 
road plans that identify all vehicle, transit, cycle route, and trail linkages and provide a mix of trail, 
local, collector and major roads necessary to create a balanced road system on and off-site. 
  

                                                
7 City of Kelowna 2030 Official Community Plan: Development Process; p. 5.2. 
8 City of Kelowna 2030 Official Community Plan: Development Process; p. 5.2 & 5.3. 
9 City of Kelowna 2030 Official Community Plan: Agricultural Land Use Policies; p. 5.35.  
10 City of Kelowna 2030 Official Community Plan: Development Process; p. 5.39 & 5.40. 

45



A13-0003 – Page 11 

 
 

 

5.2 City of Kelowna Agriculture Plan (1998) 

ALR Application Criteria11 

Exclusion, subdivision, or non-farm use of ALR lands will generally not be supported.  General non-support 

for ALR applications is in the interest of protecting farmland through retention of larger parcels, 

protection of the land base from impacts of urban encroachment, reducing land speculation and the cost 

of entering the farm business, and encouraging increased farm capitalization. 

Urban - Rural/Agricultural Boundary Policies12 
The City of Kelowna will continue to support the future exclusion or non-farm use of two properties south 
of Springfield Road between Cooper Road and Spall Road. 

6.0 Technical Comments 

6.1 Building & Permitting Department – None. 

6.2 Development Engineering Department – None. 

6.3 Interior Health Authority – See attached.   

7.0 Application Chronology 

Date of Application Received: January 28, 2013  

Agricultural Advisory Committee February 7, 2013 

The above noted application was reviewed by the Agricultural Advisory Committee at the 
meeting on February 7, 2013 and the following recommendations were passed (see also Minutes, 
attached): 

MOVED BY Pierre Calissi/SECONDED BY Leo Gebert 

THAT the Agricultural Advisory Committee NOT support Application No. A13-0003 for 2025 
Springfield Road and 2120 Cooper Road, to obtain approval from the Agricultural Land 
Commission (ALC) for exclusion of two properties with a combined area of 9.85 ha (24.35 ac) 
from the Agricultural Land Reserve in order to facilitate the creation of a mixed use (retail 
commercial, residential, office) development. 

CARRIED  
Bob Hrasko - Opposed 

ANECDOTAL COMMENT 

The AAC did not support the Application as the Members were not convinced that the 
application reflects a net benefit to agriculture as proposed. The AAC further noted that if 
the Application does proceed, that an Impact Assessment should be undertaken to identify 
impacts to remainder agricultural properties and also the mitigation opportunities and 
prescriptions. 

Application Placed on Hold: February 8, 2013 

Application Taken off Hold: August 14, 2013 

  

                                                
11 City of Kelowna Agriculture Plan (1998); p. 130. 
12 City of Kelowna Agriculture Plan (1998); p. 133. 

46



A13-0003 – Page 12 

 
 

Report submitted by: 

 
 
Todd Cashin 
Manager, Subdivision, Agriculture & Environment  
   

Approved for Inclusion:  Shelley Gambacort 
Director, Subdivision, Agriculture & Environment 

 

Attachments: 

Location/ALR Map (2 pages) 
AAC Minutes (3 pages) 
ALC Application by landowner (188 pages) 
Interior Health Comments (1 page) 
Public Correspondence   
 

47



48



49



50



51



53



54



60



61



62



77



78



79



80



81



1 

 

ALR EXCLUSION APPLICATION 

24.35 Acres 

Springfield and Cooper Roads 

Kelowna, BC 

 

Prepared For: 

City of Kelowna & 

The Agricultural Land Commission 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

J. Hettinga, B.Sc., RI 

R. S. Cook, AACI, P. App, RI, C. Arb. August 14, 2013 

82



2 

 

 

 

 

 

 

August 14, 2013 

 

 

 

City of Kelowna 

1435 Water Street 

Kelowna, British Columbia 

V1Y 1J4 

 

Attention: Greg Sauer and Todd Cashin 

 

Dear Sirs: 

 

Re: ALR Exclusion Application 

 24.35 Acres Springfield and Cooper Roads 

Kelowna, British Columbia     

  

As per requirements for Agricultural Land Reserve property exclusions, attached please find an ALR 

Exclusion Application for the above noted properties legally described herein. 

 

This application has been revised from the initial report provided to the City of Kelowna in response to 

feedback from the Agricultural Advisory Committee and other stakeholders. 

 

If you have any questions pertaining to this Application, please do not hesitate to contact us. 

 

Sincerely, 

 

KENT-MACPHERSON 

 

 

Per:               

 R. S. Cook, AACI, P. App, RI, C. Arb.    J. Hettinga, B.Sc., RI 

 

 

/jh 

 

cc: McIntosh Properties Ltd.  

83



3 

 

Table of Contents 
 

 Page 

 

Title Page 1 
Letter of Transmittal 2 
Table of Contents 3 
Executive Summary 5 
ALR Exclusion Application Overview 8 
 
PROPOSED ALR EXCLUSION LANDS 9 
Summary of Facts Pertaining to the Exclusion Lands 10 
 
Section 1 Property Description 12 
1.1 Location 12 
1.2 Civic Address 12 
1.3 Lot Size 12 
1.4 Access 12 
1.5 Services 12 
1.6 Topography 15 
1.7  History and Use 15 
1.8 Current Use 15 
1.9 Adjacent Properties 15 
1.10 Irrigation Ditch 16 
 
Section 2 Land Use Controls 30 
2.1 Zoning 30 
2.2 Official Community Plan 30 
2.3 Agricultural Land Reserve 31 
2.4 City of Kelowna Agricultural Plan 37 
 
Section 3 Agricultural Capability 39 
3.1 Agricultural Capability of the Exclusion Lands 39 
 
Section 4 Proposed Use 40 
4.1 Land Use 40 
4.2 Future Roads 48 
4.3 Buffering 48 
4.4 Drainage and Runoff 51 
4.5 Irrigation Ditch 51 
4.6 Shadow Impact 51 
 
ADDENDA - EXCLUSION LANDS 55 
Agriculture Capability Assessment 56 
ALC Application 57 
Property Titles 60 
Letter of Agency 63 
Proof of Publication Notices 66 
Proof of Serving Notice Form 68 

84



4 

 

 
 

 Page 
 

Notice to Adjacent Property Owner 70 
Proof of Sign Posting 76 
Response from Exclusion Application 79 
 
PROPOSED ALR INCLUSION LANDS 81 
Summary of Facts Pertaining to the Inclusion Lands 82 
Biography of the Cholla Lands Farmer - David Geen 84 
 
Section 5 Historical and Current Uses 93 
5.1 Historical Use of the Inclusion Lands 93 
5.2 Current Use of the Inclusion Lands 94 
 
Section 6 Agricultural Capability 103 
6.1 Agricultural Capability of the Inclusion Lands 103 
 
ADDENDA - INCLUSION LANDS 105 
Agriculture Capability Assessment 106 
Property Titles 107 
 
PROPOSED AGRICULTURAL IMPROVEMENT LANDS – GEEN PROPERTIES 113 
Agricultural Improvement Lands – Geen Properties 114 
Lower Oyama Farm 115 
Upper Oyama Farm 119 
Highway 33 122 
Lavington Lands 125 
Cholla Hills Farm 129 
Wind Machines 133 
 
PROPOSED TOPSOIL RELOCATION – DAY PROPERTIES 136 
Topsoil Relocation Lands – Day Properties 137 
Day’s Gravel Pit 139 

  

85



5 

 

Executive Summary 
 

 

This report is for the exclusion of a 24.35 acre parcel of land within the ALR.  The subject property is 

located adjoining a major thoroughfare in the heart of Kelowna's retail/commercial shopping area, located 

directly south of Orchard Plaza and surrounded on three sides by urban development. 

 

Although the site is within the ALR, the exclusion of the entire subject area is supported by both the City 

of Kelowna's Agriculture Plan and their Official Community Plan, and has been for well over a decade. 

 

The property is proposed to be developed to a comprehensive, master planned mixed use medium density 

multi-family apartment and commercial development. 

 

The goal of this application is to provide benefits for all parties involved, including but not limited to: the 

benefiting farmers (financial support and topsoil placement); the City of Kelowna (property tax, DCC’s, 

community planning objectives, improved road network); the community (densification of urban centres, 

support of local produce providers); and the ALC (increase the gross and net ALR land area, financial 

support and topsoil relocation to enhance  existing farming operations for regional food production).  This 

file has been reviewed by the City of Kelowna’s Agricultural Advisory Committee on February 7
th
, 2013, 

and based on their feedback, this application has been revised and improved  

 

 

Benefits to Agriculture 

 

To ensure that this application can help the ALC deliver on its mandate, we have reviewed this proposal 

against the purpose of the Commission as outlined in Section 6 of the Agricultural Land Commission Act 

(the ‘Act’).  Section 6 states “The following are the purposes of the commission”: 

 

 

6a – to preserve agricultural land; 

 

This application proposes the inclusion of 53 acres into the Agricultural Land Reserve, of which 41.6 

acres are currently planted, Class 2 and Class 3 lands.  This provides an increase in both gross (218%) and 

net (171%) ALR land, and protects quality agricultural land for the future.  Although geographically 

different then the exclusion property, similar crops can be produced on both properties. 

86



6 

 

 

To encourage farm use of agricultural land and help its profitability, an additional $3,665,000 is 

earmarked for agricultural improvements to existing ALR farm lands throughout the Okanagan with 

$1,750,000 of that to be guaranteed by way of a letter of credit or other security, as required by the ALC.  

These funds will allow for immediate and substantive improvements to existing farm lands that would 

otherwise be significantly scaled back or deferred for a long period of time.  $1,000,000 of this money 

will be spent improving 69 acres of leased agricultural land; $315,000 will go towards the installation of 9 

wind machines to improve frost protection on 4 existing cherry orchards, and the balance ($2,350,000) 

will go towards the improvement of agriculture on 118 acres of ALR land owned by Mr. David Geen.  

Agricultural improvements valued at approximately $955,000 have already been initiated this spring and 

completed at the time of submission of this application.  

 

Additionally, approximately 15,000 cubic yards of topsoil from the subject site will be removed and 

relocated to remediate an agricultural property in the area to significantly improve the agricultural 

capability of the recipient site. The relocation and placement of this topsoil represents an improvement to 

agriculture of approximately $335,000. 

 

 

6b – to encourage farming on agricultural land in collaboration with other communities of interest; 

 

By creating a 25 meter buffer of road, landscaping and fencing, exceeding the “Guide to Edge Planning” 

standards published by the Ministry of Agriculture and Lands, the urban-agricultural interface south of 

the subject will eliminate trespassing through agricultural lands.  Additionally, the property owner will 

support a section 219 covenant being registered on their title (and in all Leases / Rental Agreements) 

notifying future property owners, tenants and lessees of the existence of adjacent farm practices to 

effectively eliminate future complaints. 

 

With the goal of community health, the irrigation ditch which parallels the subject property’s southerly 

boundary is proposed to be piped and filled which provides the adjoining growers with additional 

headlands; eliminates concerns regarding overspray contaminating the water source and eliminates the 

potential for transients now living in the brush/ scrub along the ditch. 

 

 

87



7 

 

6c – to encourage local governments, first nations, the government and its agents to enable and 

accommodate farm use of agricultural land and uses compatible with agriculture in their plans, 

bylaws and policies. 

 

Throughout the Okanagan, municipalities and regional districts have being trying to encourage and 

support agricultural activities on lands identified in their OCP’s for agricultural uses.  By supporting 

multiple properties with both capital and topsoil relocation, local governments will see new farms created 

and existing farms become more viable.  The majority of the $3,665,000 will go towards site preparation 

and irrigation installation – both of which will support agriculture in perpetuity. 

 

In the same way, by working with the City of Kelowna on the future redevelopment of the subject 

exclusion lands, numerous City plans will be realized, such as: the 1994-2013 OCP regarding Urban 

Town Centre areas; the 2030 OCP regarding Core Area and Agricultural Land Use Policies in the 

Development Process; and the City’s current Agricultural Plan. 

 

Overall, the exclusion results in a substantive net benefit to agriculture and delivers on all three primary 

purposes of the ALC Act. 

 

Application Highlights 

 

1. Removal of 24.35 acres from ALR status 

2. Inclusion of 53 acres (41.6 acres planted) into ALR status 

3. Contributes $400,000 towards land preparation, fencing and irrigation of 30 acres and trellis 

system installation on 14 acres of ALR (Oyama) 

4. Contributes $600,000 towards site preparation and irrigation of 25 acres of ALR (Kelowna) 

5. Contributes $2,080,000 towards land preparation, irrigation system and planting 35,000 cherry 

trees, plus rain covers for 95 acres of ALR (Lavington) 

6. Contributes $270,000 towards Voen covers on 8 acres and trellis system on 15 acres of cherries in 

the ALR (North Okanagan Regional District) 

7. Contributes $315,000 towards the installation of 9 “Orchard Rite” wind machines for frost 

protection in Lake Country, Regional District of North Okanagan and Kelowna 

8. Piping the existing irrigation ditch and creating a significant buffer between the subject property 

and neighbouring lands 

9. Relocation of 15,000 cubic yards of topsoil to substantially improve ALR land in Kelowna 

10. Complies with the City of Kelowna’s Agricultural Plan and Urban Core Area of the OCP  

88



8 

 

ALR Exclusion Application Overview 
 

 

EXCLUSION LANDS: 

 

 Proposed Exclusion Area: - 24.35 acres 

 

Soil Classification Unimproved - Class 5A 

 

Soil Classification Improved - Class 2N   

 

INCLUSION LANDS: 

   

Gross ALR Inclusion Area - 53 acres 

 

Planted Portion of Gross Area - 41.6 acres 

 

Soil Classification – Improved: -  Class 2T (19.3 acres) 

 - Class 3T (9.4 acres) 

 - Class 3P (12.9 acres)  

 

GEEN LANDS - IMPROVEMENTS TO AGRICULTURE: 

 

 Agricultural Improvements - $3,665,000 (improvements of approx. $955,000 

are currently underway) 

 

 Amt. Guaranteed by Letter of Credit - $1,750,000 

 

TOPSOIL RELOCATION – IMPROVEMENTS TO AGRICULTURE: 

 

Estimated Value of Topsoil Relocation - $335,000 

  

89



9 

 

 

 

PROPOSED ALR EXCLUSION LANDS 

24.35 Acres 

Springfield and Cooper Roads 

Kelowna, BC 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 
 

90



10 

 

Summary of Facts Pertaining to the Exclusion Lands 
 

 

 

LEGAL DESCRIPTIONS: - Lot 1, District Lot 128, Osoyoos Division Yale 

District, Plan 18971. PID: 008-162-883 

 - Lot B, District Lot 128, Osoyoos Division Yale 

District, Plan 970 except Plans 36410, 41244, 

KAP47295 and H12895. PID: 002-865-602 

    

OWNER:     - McIntosh Properties Ltd. 

       201-1980 Cooper Road, Kelowna, BC 

 

SITE AREA: 

  Lot 1:      -   9.47 acres;  3.83 ha 

  Lot B:      - 14.88 acres;  6.02 ha 

  Total:      - 24.35 acres;  9.85 ha 

 

ZONING:     - A1; Agricultural 

 

OCP DESIGNATION:    - Agricultural 

 

AGRICULTURAL PLAN:   - Exclusion from ALR or non-farm use 

 

CURRENT ALR STATUS:   - +24.35 acres in the ALR 

 

PROPOSED ALR EXCLUSION:  - +24.35 acres 

 

TOPOGRAPHY OF ALR AREA: - Flat 

 

SOIL CLASSIFICATION:   - Unimproved Class 5A 

- Improved Class 2N (with irrigation and 

fertilization) 

 

SURROUNDING LAND USES: - North: C4; Commercial & Residential 

   C10; Service Commercial 

91



11 

 

  East: RM5; Residential Multiple Zone 

   P2; Educational and Minor Educational 

   South: A1; Agriculture 

   West: P4; Utilities (Fortis Offices) 

  

92



12 

 

Section 1               Property Description 
 

 

1.1 Location 

 

The proposed exclusion comprises two contiguous parcels located adjoining and south of Springfield Road 

and west of Cooper Road, Kelowna, British Columbia.  Refer to the orientation map, Figure 1. 

 

 

1.2 Civic Address 

 

Lot 1: 2025 Springfield Road, Kelowna BC. 

Lot B: 2120 Cooper Road, Kelowna BC. 

 

 

1.3 Lot Size 

 

Lot 1: 9.48 ac., 3.83 ha 

Lot B: 14.88 ac., 6.02 ha 

 

 

1.4 Access 

 

Lot 1: Accessible from Springfield Road. 

Lot B:  Accessible from Cooper Road. 

 

 

1.5 Services 

 

Lot 1, 2025 Springfield Road, is fully serviced with all municipal utilities, including water, storm, sewer, 

sidewalks, curb and gutter, and boulevard.  This work occurred when the City of Kelowna widened 

Springfield Road.  At that time the owner (McIntosh Properties Ltd.), was required to provide an access 

point for the future extension of Barlee Road southward.  

 

Lot B, 2120 Cooper Road, has curb, gutter, sidewalk, storm and sewer along the Cooper Road frontage. 

93



13 

 

Figure 1 – Kelowna Orientation Map 
   Subject 

 
  

 

94



14 

 

Figure 2 – Aerial Ortho 
   Subject 

 
  

95



15 

 

1.6 Topography 

 

The entire parcel is flat (0-0.5%), and located at an elevation of approximately 340 meters (1,129 feet) 

above sea level. 

 

 

1.7  History and Use 

 

Lot 1, 2025 Springfield Road, was purchased by McIntosh Properties Ltd in 1969.  The property has been 

unused for 43 years.   

 

The southern property, Lot B, 2120 Cooper Road, was a mixed use orchard in the 1970’s, owned by the 

Tanaka family.  In the 1980’s through 1990, the property was converted to a commercial market 

vegetable garden and for the last 10+ years the land has not been used for agriculture. 

 

 

1.8 Current Use 

 

The property is effectively unused and mowed periodically to reduce noxious weeds and the threat of 

grass fires. The old circa 1950’s home was removed from Lot B along with the dilapidated outbuildings.    

 

 

1.9 Adjacent Properties 

 

The subject property is bordered by 4 properties, two of which are farms (Day Family, Pahl Family), one 

church (Mission Creek Alliance) and one utility company (FortisBC).   

 

Both farm properties that are adjacent to the subject exclusion lands have made comment regarding 

separation between any new development and their current farm activities.  After conversations with both 

property owners, the application has changed to include a mounded berm and a 6 metre high buffer with 

continuous foliage throughout the entire height.  In addition, to prevent trespass into the adjacent 

properties, this application proposes an 8 foot fence along property line, as well as 3 rows of trespass 

inhibiting shrubs and one row of screening shrubs.  The proposed cross sections can be seen in the 

“Buffering” section. 

 

96



16 

 

The applicant is continuing to work with the Day family exploring the relocation of the exclusion sites’ 

topsoil to the Day’s gravel pit located within the ALR in hopes to improve the agricultural abilities of the 

lands.  More information on this can be found under the “Proposed Topsoil Relocation” section.  

 

The Pahl family, FortisBC, and Mission Creek Alliance Church have continuously supported this 

exclusion application. 

 

 

1.10 Irrigation Ditch 

 

An irrigation ditch parallels the southern boundary of Lot B, controlled by the Benvoulin Water Users 

Community, as shown on the following photographs, shown on Figure 3. 

 

A survey sketch plan was prepared identifying the exact location, shown on Figure 4. 

  

97



17 

 

Figure 3 – Irrigation Ditch Photographs  
 

 
 

View of irrigation ditch looking northeast. 

 

 
 

View east overlooking irrigation ditch. 

Property 
to the  

South of  

Lot "B" 

Lot "B" 

Irrigation Ditch 

Lot "B"  
Property Line 

Lot "B" 

Irrigation 

Ditch 
Property 

to the  
South of  

Lot "B" 

98



18 

 

 
 

View west overlooking irrigation ditch. 

 

 
 

View east overlooking property and irrigation ditch. 

Property Line 
Irrigation Ditch 

Lot "B" 

Property 
to the  

South of  

Lot "B" 

Irrigation 

Ditch 

Property 

Line Marker 

Lot "B" Lot 1 

Properties 
to the  

South of  

Lot "B" 

99



19 

 

Figure 4 – Survey of Irrigation Ditch Location 

 

100



20 

 

Figure 5 – Neighbourhood Map  
Subject 

 
  

 

 

Invue High 

Rise 

Orchard Plaza 

Shopping Centre 

Orchard Park 

Shopping Centre 

Fortis  

Offices 

Baptist 

Church 

Alliance 

Church 

 

 Hwy 97 North 

Benvoulin Rd. 

Springfield Rd. 

 

Cooper Rd. 

SUBJECT 

Orchards 

in ALR 

101



21 

 

 

Figure 6 – Composite Map  
Subject 

  

 

 

Lot 1 

Lot B 

102



22 

 

 

Figure 7 – Air Photographs        Lot 1, 2025 Springfield and Lot B, 2120 Cooper Road 
 

 
 

View east overlooking the property along Springfield Road, December 2012.

Lot 1 Lot B 

103



23 

 

 

 
 

Aerial view east along Springfield Road, May 2012.

104



24 

 

 

 

Southeasterly view, May 2012. 

105



25 

 

 

 

Aerial view west, May 2012.  

 

106



26 

 

 

 

Aerial view north, May 2012. 

107



27 

 

Figure 8 – Site Photographs  

 

 

View northeast from the southwest corner, July 2013 

  

View northwest from the southeast corner, July 2013 

108



28 

 

 

View southeast from northwest corner, July 2013 

 

 

View northwest from the southeast corner, July 2013 

 

109



29 

 

 

 

 
 

Panoramic view east to west from the mid-point of the north boundary. 

 

 
 

Panoramic view west to east from mid-point of the south boundary. 

 

110



30 

 

Section 2          Land Use Controls 
 

 

2.1 Zoning 

   

The property is zoned A1 Agricultural, pursuant to the City of Kelowna Zoning Bylaw No. 8000. 

 

Minimum lot size is 9.88 acres, except the minimum lot area is 4.94 acres when located within the 

Agricultural Land Reserve.   

 

As per the City of Kelowna's Zoning Bylaw; 

 

Permitted Uses: (a)  agriculture 

  (b)  animal clinics, major where in existence prior to July 1
st

, 1998 

  (c)  aquaculture 

  (d)  greenhouses and plant nurseries 

  (e)  intensive agriculture 

  (f)   utility services, minor impact 

  (g)  single dwelling housing 

 

Refer to the following Zoning Map, Figure 9. 

 

 

2.2 Official Community Plan 

 

The City of Kelowna adopted their 2030 Official Community Plan on May 30, 2011.  This documents goal 

is that it “provides a policy framework for Council by addressing issues such as housing, transportation, 

infrastructure, parks, economic development and the natural and social environment”. 

 

Under the OCP, the subject property is identified as "Resource Protection Area".  The 2030 Official 

Community Plan designates the subject parcels outside of the Permanent Growth Boundary Area as can be 

seen on the attached Official Community Plan Map, Figure 10.  In the previous OCP Kelowna: 2020, the 

property was identified as part of the Springfield Highway 97 Urban Town Centre development permit area.   

 

The subject property is located adjacent to the Midtown Urban Centre, 230 metres from the Capri Landmark 

Urban Centre, and less than 3 kilometres from the remaining three Urban Centres in Kelowna (City Centre, 

South Pandosy and Rutland). 

111



31 

 

 

Throughout the current and previous OCP’s, the subject site’s designation as part of the Urban Centre and 

Permanent Growth Boundary has varied, there is consistent language that the City will support their 

Agricultural Pan that contemplates the subject property as excluded (see section 2.4, City of Kelowna 

Agricultural Plan). 

 

Chapter 5 of the current OCP is specific to the Development Process and references any conflict that the 

subject site has with the OCP in Objective 5.33: Protect and enhance local agriculture. Under Policy .1: 

 

Protect Agricultural Land.  Retain the agricultural land base by supporting the 

ALR and by protecting agricultural lands from development, except as otherwise 

noted in the City of Kelowna Agricultural Plan.  Ensure that the primary use of 

agricultural land is agriculture, regardless of parcel size. 

 

As the subject properties are identified in the City of Kelowna Agricultural Plan, the OCP supports the 

redevelopment of the subject site. 

 

The OCP further endorses this site for future commercial and residential development in Objective 5.2: 

Develop Sustainability.  Under Policy .3: 

 

Complete Suburbs.  Support a mix of uses within Kelowna’s suburbs (see Map 5.1 - 

Urban Core Area), in accordance with “Smart Growth” principles to ensure complete 

communities.  Uses that should be present in all areas of the City (consistent with 

Map 4.1 - Future Land Use Map), at appropriate locations, include: commercial, 

institutional, and all types of residential uses (including affordable and special needs 

housing) at densities appropriate to their context.  Building heights in excess of four 

storeys will not be supported within the suburban areas, unless provided for by 

zoning existing prior to adoption of OCP Bylaw 10500. 

 

The referenced Map 5.1 – Urban Core Area is shown in Figure 11, and the subject property is clearly shown 

to be within the Core Area.   

 

 

2.3 Agricultural Land Reserve 

 

The entire property is included within the Agricultural Land Reserve as shown on Figures 12 and 13.  

112



32 

 

Figure 9 – City of Kelowna Zoning Map 
    Subject; A1 – Agriculture 
 

 

A1; Agriculture    P2; Education and Minor Institutional  P4; Utilities 

C4LR; Urban Centre Comm. (Retail Liquor)  C4; Urban Centre Commercial   C5; Transitional Comm. 

C6; Regional Commercial   C10; Service Commercial   

RM5; Medium Density Multiple Housing RM4; Transitional Low Density Housing  

 

 

 

113



33 

 

Figure 10 – 2030 Official Community Plan Future Land Use Plan 
  Subject; Resource Protection Area 

 

 Permanent Growth Boundary  Resource Protection Area  Mixed Use Res/Comm 

 Multiple Unit Res. (Med Density)  Service Commercial  Educational P2 

 Utilities P4    Parks 

 

  

114



34 

 

Figure 11 – Official Community Plan – Core Area Map 

   Subject  

   

    
 

  

115



35 

 

Figure 12 –Agricultural Land Reserve Map 

   Subject  

 
 

  

116



36 

 

Figure 13 –Agricultural Land Reserve Map 
   Subject  

 
  

117



37 

 

2.4 City of Kelowna Agricultural Plan  

 

Under the City of Kelowna Agriculture Plan, the subject properties are identified as ALR. 

 

However, the Agriculture Plan states in two separate locations, the City’s support of removal of agricultural 

land reserve status for the subject properties. Refer to the following excerpts from the Agriculture Plan, 

pages 122 and 133 that specifically reference the subject property. 

 

 

118



38 

 

 

 

  

119



39 

 

Section 3       Agricultural Capability 
 

 

3.1 Agricultural Capability of the Exclusion Lands 

 

The Agricultural Capability of subject properties Lot 1, Plan 18971 and Lot B, Plan 970 shows that the soil 

textures in the upper horizons are consistent with previous published soil mapping.  However, agricultural 

capability ratings have changed; from soil wetness (W) limitations to soil moisture deficiencies (A), due to 

the combination of coarse textures and significant reduction in flooding.  The soils on the subject property 

are primarily limited by a soil moisture deficit with some fertility (salinity) limitations.  

  

The overall unimproved subclass rating at the site is Class 5A.  With a fertility of the soils rating Subclass 

3F, this may be improved to a 2N after adding fertility, while still being dominantly limited by salinity.  

 

Refer to the Summit Environmental Agricultural Capability in the Addenda. 

 

The conclusion of the report indicates that the unimproved rating is Class 5A, with an improved rating of 

Class 2N, with irrigation and fertilization.   

 

  

120



40 

 

Section 4         Proposed Use 
 

 

4.1 Land Use 

 

McIntosh Properties proposes a comprehensive master planned development comprising a mix of multi-

family residential and commercial as shown on the attached concept plans. 

 

With reference to the attached exhibits, Barlee Road is proposed to extend southward across Springfield 

Road bisecting the subject property and intersecting with a new/east road paralleling the southerly 

boundary.  The Barlee/Springfield Road intersection will be signalized. 

 

The subject lands lying west of the Barlee Road extension comprising approximately 9 acres are proposed 

to be developed to clusters of 4 to 6 storey rental apartments in an open, pedestrian-friendly, phased 

project. 

 

With most of the parking underground, the site would accommodate up to 500 units with a mix of 

bachelor, one bedroom and two bedroom units. 

 

The easterly commercial component lying between the Barlee Road extension and Cooper Road 

comprising approximately 10 acres is proposed to reflect a "Village" concept modelled largely after the 

"Village at Park Royal" shopping centre in North Vancouver. 

 

The concept raises the bar from a retail perspective with a much more open, pedestrian oriented 

environment with wide sidewalks, open patios and green space. 

 

The predominantly one storey buildings could comprise a gross building area of approximately 110,000 

square feet. 

 

An office building of 6 to 10 floors is proposed for the easterly extremity of the site fronting Cooper 

Road.  With a 10,000 square foot footprint, the building would offer between 60,000 and 100,000 square 

feet of gross leasable area. 

 

  

121



41 

 

Figure 14 – Proposed Mixed Use Development – Site Plan 
 

  

122



42 

 

Figure 15 – Proposed Mixed Use Development – Residential Component 
 

 

123



43 

 

Figure 16 – Proposed Mixed Use Development – Commercial Component 
 

  

124



44 

 

 Concept Images  

125



45 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

126



46 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

127



47 

 

  

128



48 

 

4.2 Future Roads 

 

A new city road is proposed extending from Cooper Road westward paralleling the southerly boundary of 

the property through to the easterly boundary abutting the Fortis office site.  The potential exists for 

extending the road further westward to connect to Spall Road. 

 

As noted, Barlee Road would extend southward across Springfield Road via a controlled intersection to 

connect with the new city road. 

 

 

4.3 Buffering 

 

The new city road paralleling the subject's southerly boundary abutting the ALR lands is one of the primary 

buffers separating the development lands from the adjoining orchards.  In addition, fencing would be 

provided along the entire southerly boundary as well as landscaped buffering in accordance with the 

Ministry of Agriculture and Lands "Guide to Edge Planning" which is a "guide promoting compatibility 

along urban/agricultural edges."  As per this guide, a 7.5 metre wide landscape buffer would be constructed 

in addition to the 17.2 metre wide proposed road, giving 24.7 metres to the nearest property line. 

 

The intent is to mitigate and minimize conflicts between the proposed residential/commercial development 

and adjoining agricultural uses.  An example of urban/side buffers taken from the Ministry of Agriculture 

guide is shown below. 

  

129



49 

 

Figure 17 – Proposed New City Road – Schematic Section 

 

 

 

 

 

 
  

130



50 

 

Figure 18– Proposed New City Road – Plan View 
 

  

131



51 

 

4.4 Drainage and Runoff 

 

The new city road paralleling the agricultural lands will be constructed to a full urban cross section with 

curb, gutter and storm sewer.  Any runoff or leaching from the road will be picked up by the storm sewer 

with no runoff permitted or possible to the adjoining agricultural lands. 

 

 

4.5 Irrigation Ditch 

 

Discussions are underway with the Benvoulin Water Users Community and adjoining farmers regarding 

proposed piping the existing irrigation ditch.  Benefits would include: 

 

 1. Increased usable farm land/head land as the filled irrigation ditch area could be 

utilized by farm equipment. 

 

 2. The water source would be protected from agricultural sprays and fertilizers by 

underground piping. 

 

 3. The high level of maintenance of the open ditch would be eliminated. 

 

 4. Wild overgrowth along the ditch which encourages transient camps would be 

eliminated. 

 

The piping and filling of the ditch is supported by the manager of the Benvoulin Community Water 

Users.  

 

 

4.6 Shadow Impact 

 

Based on the location and height of each building, there will be no impact to agricultural land, nor any 

impact to adjacent properties from building shadows.  Figures 19 thru 21 show the shadow impact during 

the Spring Equinox (March 21
st
), Summer Solstice (June 21

st
), and Fall Equinox (September 21

st
). 

132



52 

 

Figure 19 – Shadow Impact Study – March 21st 
 

  

133



53 

 

Figure 20 – Shadow Impact Study – June 21st 
 

  

134



54 

 

Figure 21 – Shadow Impact Study – September 21st 
 

  

135



55 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
ADDENDA - 

EXCLUSION LANDS 

  

136



56 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT 1 
 

SUMMIT ENVIRONMENTAL CONSULTANTS INC. 
 

AGRICULTURE CAPABILITY ASSESSMENT  

137



57 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT 2 
 

  
 

ALC APPLICATION 
 

  

138



58 

 

 

139



59 

 

 
 

 

140



60 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT 3 
 

  
 

PROPERTY TITLES 

 

  

141



61 

 

Lot 1 Title 

 

  

142



62 

 

Lot B Title 

 

 
  

143



63 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT 4 
 

  
 

LETTER OF AGENCY 

  

144



64 

 

Letter of Agency from Kevin Bennett 

 

  

145



65 

 

Letter of Agency from Steve Bennett 

 

 
 

146



66 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT 5 
 

  
 

PROOF OF PUBLICATION NOTICES 

  

147



67 

 

Newspaper Notification - Capital News – January 17th and 24th, 2013 

 

  

148



68 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT 6 
 

  
 

PROOF OF SERVING NOTICE FORM 
 

149



69 

 

 

150



70 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT 7 
 

  
 

NOTICE TO ADJACENT PROPERTY OWNER 

151



71 

 

 
  

152



72 

 

 
  

153



73 

 

 
  

154



74 

 

 
  

155



75 

 

  

156



76 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT 8 
 

  
 

PROOF OF SIGN POSTING 

  

157



77 

 

Proof of Signs Posted - Springfield Road and Cooper 

Road - January 17, 2013 

 

        
 

             

 

  

158



78 

 

 
  

159



79 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT 9 
 

  
 

RESPONSE FROM EXCLUSION APPLICATION 
  

160



80 

 

Letter from Neighbouring Property – January 25th, 2013 

 
 

 

 

161



81 

 

 

 

PROPOSED ALR INCLUSION LANDS 

 

Cholla Hills Farm 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

ALR 

PROPOSED INCLUSION 

PROPOSED INCLUSION 

162



82 

 

Summary of Facts Pertaining to the Inclusion Lands 
 

 

OVERVIEW: - The Cholla Hills farm comprises a high density cherry 

orchard located east of Vernon, on the east side of 

Okanagan Lake, approximately 1,850 – 2,050 feet above 

sea level.  The owner, David Geen, is a renowned 

Okanagan orchardist specializing in high density 

cherries.  A biography of Mr. Geen is attached. 

 

  Mr. Geen identified these lands as having an ideal 

micro-climate and good air drainage for late season 

cherry production.  Since acquiring the property in late 

2006, substantive improvements have been made in site 

contouring, irrigation, fencing and planting. The 

property is currently planted in over 40,000 cherry trees 

over 110 acres of the property. 

 

  Cholla Hills Farm is highly productive, producing yields 

of excellent quality sweet cherries comprising 130 tons 

in 2010, 620 tons in 2011 and 670 tons in 2012. The 

property is currently generating farm gate revenues in 

excess of $2.5 million per annum. 

 

TYPE OF PROPERTY: - High density cherry orchard 

 

CIVIC ADDRESS: - Site 11, Comp. 8, RR7 Station Main, 

  1 - 278 Siwash Creek Road, Vernon, BC, V1T 7Z3 

 

LEGAL DESCRIPTIONS: - Lot 1, District Lot 511, Osoyoos Division Yale District, 

Plan 28829. PID: 004-485-050 

 - District Lot 511, Osoyoos Division Yale District, except 

Plan 28829. PID: 011-515-287 

   

 

163



83 

 

OWNERS: - Emily Kaitlin Geen & Eric Gerald Geen (Lot 1) 

 - Naswhito Creek Farms Ltd. (DL 511) 

 

CHOLLA HILLS FARM SITE AREA:  

   Lot 1:    - 160.40 acres 

  DL 511:   - 150.64 acres 

   Total:    - 311.04 acres 

 

ZONING:    - LH (Large Holdings) 

 

CURRENT ALR AREA: 

  Lot 1:    - 57.99 acres 

   DL 511:   - 63.1 acres 

 

PROPOSED ALR INCLUSION:   

  Gross Inclusion Area      

   Lot 1:    - 40 acres   

  DL 511:   - 13 acres  

   Total Gross Area   53 acres 

 

Planted Portion of Gross Area      

   Lot 1:    - 28.6 acres   

  DL 511:   - 13.0 acres  

   Total Planted Area   41.6 acres 

 

Soil Classification - Improved      

   Class 2T:   - 19.3 acres  

 Class 3T:   -   9.4 acres  

  Class 3P:   - 12.9 acres  

   Total     41.6 acres 

 

TOPOGRAPHY:   - Flat too gently, and moderately sloping 

  

164



84 

 

Biography of the Cholla Lands Farmer - David Geen 
 

 

BIOGRAPHY 

 

David Geen is a fourth generation member of a prominent Okanagan fruit growing family that settled in 

the Okanagan Valley in 1903.  David's father, grandfather, great-grandfather, several uncles and cousins 

have all raised fruit in the Kelowna area.  After initially farming on family land in the Ellison district of 

Kelowna, David ventured out on his own in 1990, purchasing 70 acres of land in Carr's Landing, District 

of Lake Country.  From this base David expanded operations on both deeded and leased land to the 

present operation's size of 470 acres. 

 

David was born in 1962, educated in Kelowna, and started farming full time in 1981.   Over the years, 

David has raised apples, pears and cherries, with the focus over the last twenty years shifting relentlessly 

to production of premium cherries for the export market.  

 

David has served in the past as a director of the Okanagan North Growers Co-op, a director of the 

Okanagan Plant Improvement Company, and a director of the Okanagan Kootenay Cherry Growers 

Association.  

 

Just recently, David has become the Vice Chair of the BC Cherry Association, and Chair of its Market 

Access Committee.  In this roll, David has been very active on the Associations access to China file and 

currently working on Japan. 

 

David has received several awards over the years, including "Soft Fruit Grower of the Year" from the BC 

Fruit Growers association, "Outstanding Contribution to Agriculture" from the Lake Country Chamber of 

Commerce, and in 2012, was a top three finalist in the "Export Awards (consumer goods category)" from 

the Canadian Manufacturers and Exporters association.  

 

David is President and CEO of his two companies; Coral Beach Farms Ltd, and its marketing arm, 

Jealous Fruits Ltd. 

 

David is married to Laura, and together they have raised 3 children, presently aged 17 to 22.  All of the 

children have worked in the business in some capacity during cherry season, and are presently working on 

university educations. 

165



85 

 

 

 

KEY ACCOMPLISHMENTS 

 

 Industry leader in the development of the export based cherry industry which has emerged in 

British Columbia over the last twenty years.  Pioneered the testing and planting of many of the 

new cherry selections developed at the breeding program in Summerland, in most cases planting 

these varieties while they were still in the embryonic stage.  At present, David's cherry plantings 

represent 10% of the total acreage for the BC cherry industry, and his volume presence in world 

export markets is approximately 20% of the BC total. 

 

 Pioneered the development of high density cherry orchards in the Okanagan valley, using special 

pruning and tree training techniques to obtain early production, high quality cherries, and lower 

production costs.  The aim of the production system is to produce exceptionally large, firm, and 

highly sugared cherries, which are prized as a luxury good in world markets. 

 

 Planted over 200,000 cherry trees on 370 acres since 1991, with another 100 acres on the books 

for 2013, and 85 acres planned for 2014.  Production in 2012 reached 2,600 tons, and is projected 

to reach 5,000 tons by 2018.  

 

 Extended the BC cherry season into September, capturing market windows with strong cherry 

demand and little competing supply.  This has been accomplished by the planting of late ripening 

cultivars on late maturing sites.  As an example, David developed the Cholla Hills Farm, situated 

at 1,850 to 2,200 feet in elevation, on the west side of Okanagan Lake opposite Vernon.  

 

 Added value and improved quality by integrating on-farm packing into his production systems, 

starting in 1994.  The first packing plant started as a very simple sorting belt system, and has 

grown over the years to now occupy a 30,000 foot building incorporating the latest technology 

including optical sizing and defect sorting. 

 

 Added value by taking the marketing functions for his cherries in-house, forming "Jealous Fruits 

Ltd" in 2008.  Jealous Fruits is now recognized as the top Canadian cherry brand in many export 

markets of the world.  The company regularly makes market visits and exhibits at trade shows 

worldwide. Jealous Fruits sells cherries in over 30 countries around the world. 

 

 David packs and sells cherries for a small number of outside growers, who benefit by the 

company's expertise, facilities, and marketing programs.  

 

 International renown and stature in the cherry industry is significant.  Coral Beach Farms is 

visited by leading cherry industry figures worldwide including those in Washington State, Chile, 

France, New Zealand and Australia.  David, and several Coral Beach managers, has also made 

reciprocal visits to leading orchardists in all of these countries.  In May of 2011, David addressed 

the Tasmanian Fruit Growers Association, on the topic of competing in today's global markets. 

 

166



86 

 

 

Figure 22 – Regional Map Showing Proposed Inclusion Lands 

Proposed Property for Inclusion 

 
  

 

 

 

167



87 

 

Figure 23 – Neighbourhood Map 
Proposed Property for Inclusion 

 

SUBJECT 

Okanagan IR #1 

Okanagan Lake 

Kalamalka Lake 

168



88 

 

Figure 24 – Aerial View of Cholla Hills Farm 

Subject   Current ALR Boundary 

 

ALR 

169



89 

 

Figure 25 – Agricultural Land Reserve Map – Cholla Hills Farm 

Agricultural Land Reserve 

 
 

170



90 

 

Figure 26 – Proposed ALR Inclusion Map 

      Inclusion Areas   Current ALR Designation 

  

Lot 1 

Rem.  
DL 511 

ALR 

171



91 

 

Figure 27 – Composite Map - Cholla Hills Farm 

 

172



92 

 

Figure 28 – Copy of Registered Plan 28892 – Cholla Hills Farm 

Proposed Inclusion Lands 

 
  

173



93 

 

Section 5      Historical and Current Uses 
 

 

5.1 Historical Use of the Inclusion Lands 

 

From 1980 to 2007, the proposed inclusion lands were used for cattle grazing, forage and hayfields.  The 

northerly portion was utilized primarily for cattle grazing, while the southerly portion adjacent to Siwash Creek 

was utilized for hay production. 

 

 

 

2006 views of hayfields and grazing lands 

174



94 

 

 

 

5.2 Current Use of the Inclusion Lands 

 

In 2007, the site was improved to include additional irrigation and a water reservoir to facilitate conversion of 

the site to intensive agricultural uses.  The lands were subsequently converted to high density orchard, and are 

currently planted in a variety of cherries.  

 

 

 

  

175



95 

 

Figure 29 - Photographs of Cholla Hills Farm 

 

Aerial photo looking south east, 2010

176



96 

 

 

Aerial photo looking west, 2010 (boundaries approximate)

Lot 1 Rem. 
DL 511 

177



97 

 

 
Aerial Photo facing south west, 2010

178



98 

 

 
Aerial photo looking north, 2010 

  

179



99 

 

 

Aerial photograph of Cholla Hills Farm, December 2012 

180



100 

 

 

Aerial photo of Cholla Hills Farm, December 2012 

 

181



101 

 

 
 

Panoramic view north to south from mid-point near to north boundary 

 

 
 

Panoramic view east to west from middle of site overlooking central compound 

 

 
 

Panoramic view south to west along east boundary near southeast corner

182



102 

 

 
 

 

 

 
 

Internal views of proposed inclusion lands 

 

 

 

183



103 

 

Section 6       Agricultural Capability 
 

 

6.1 Agricultural Capability of the Inclusion Lands 

 

The agricultural capability of the proposed inclusion lands based on Summit Environmental Consultants Inc.’s 

Agricultural Land Capability Assessment, dated November, 24, 2010, is summarized as follows: 

 

Northwest area 9.4 acres (3.8 ha)  Class 5T unimproved; Class 3T improved 

Northeast area 19.3 acres (7.8 ha)  Class 4T unimproved; Class 2T improved 

South area 12.9 acres (5.2 ha)  Class 5P unimproved; Class 3P improved 

 

Total planted area 41.6 acres; 16.80 ha. 

 

Total area to be included in ALR = 53 acres; 21.5 ha. 

 

The gross area of 53 acres for inclusion into the Agricultural Land Reserve includes some non-arable land or 

lands that require additional work before being arable.  These areas are included in the ALR as part of a rational 

ALR boundary extension polygon. 

 

The agricultural capability assessment supports inclusion of the proposed areas adjacent to the existing ALR to 

enhance the long term viability of the farm. Refer to the full copy of the agricultural land capability assessment 

in the Addenda and a copy of Summit Environmental’s Agricultural Capability plan on the following page. 

184



104 

 

Figure 30: Copy of Agricultural Capability Plan – Inclusion Lands 

 

 

185



105 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
ADDENDA - 

INCLUSION LANDS 

  

186



106 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT 1 
 

SUMMIT ENVIRONMENTAL CONSULTANTS INC. 
 

AGRICULTURE CAPABILITY ASSESSMENT 
  

187



107 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT 2 
 

  
 

PROPERTY TITLES 

 

  

188



108 

 

Lot 1 Title (page 1 of 2) 

 

 

189



109 

 

Lot 1 Title (page 2 of 2) 

 

 

  

190



110 

 

District Lot 511 Title (page 1 of 3) 

 

 

191



111 

 

District Lot 511 Title (page 2 of 3) 

 

  

192



112 

 

District Lot 511 Title (page 3 of 3) 

 

 

  

193



113 

 

 

PROPOSED AGRICULTURAL 

IMPROVEMENT LANDS – GEEN PROPERTIES 

Oyama Farms; Highway 33; Lavington; Cholla Hills Farm 

 

 

 

  

194



114 

 

Agricultural Improvement Lands – Geen Properties 
 

 

OVERVIEW: - Orchardist David Geen has committed to utilizing the funds 

received as a result of the inclusion of his lands into the 

Agricultural Land Reserve, plus additional funds of his 

own, totalling $3,665,000 towards substantive agricultural 

improvements to existing farm land. 

   

  The agricultural improvements will be made to lands that 

are either owned or leased by David Geen within the 

Central and North Okanagan, as described on the following 

pages. 

   

  A brief summary of proposed agricultural improvement 

expenditures is provided below.  

 

PROPOSED EXPENDITURE 

  SUMMARY: 

 

  OYAMA FARMS: 

    (Lower & Upper)   - Total expenditure - $   400,000 

  

  HIGHWAY 33:   - Total expenditure - $   600,000 

 

  LAVINGTON:   - Total expenditure - $2,080,000 

 

  CHOLLA HILLS FARM:  - Total expenditure - $   270,000 

  

  WIND MACHINES:    Total expenditure - $   315,000 

 

  TOTAL OF PROPOSED 

    EXPENDITURES:  - $3,665,000 (less $955,000 for work just commenced and 

currently underway) 

 

  TOTAL CAPITAL EXPENDI- 

    TURES TO BE GUARANTEED 

    BY LETTER OF CREDIT:  - $1,750,000 

  

195



115 

 

Summary of Facts for Improvement Lands 
 

 

LOWER OYAMA FARM 

 

OVERVIEW: - The lower Oyama farm lands are located on the east side 

of Wood Lake and have been leased by Coral Beach 

Farms Ltd. (David Geen), for a term of 20 years 

commencing November 1, 2013. 

 

PROPOSED IMPROVEMENTS: - Removal of 30 acres of obsolete apples, and preparation 

of land for replanting. 

 - Installation of 30 acres of automated irrigation system, 

in preparation for spring 2014 planting of high density 

cherries. 

 - Installation of deer fencing. 

         

LEGAL DESCRIPTIONS: - Lots A, B & C, Sections 35 and 36, Township 20 

Osoyoos Division Yale District Plan, KAP56341 except 

Plan KAP56342 

   

OWNER: - Dorothy Margaret Marshall 

   

SITE AREA:  

  Lot A: - 12.97 acres 

  Lot B: - 13.80 acres 

  Lot C: - 14.03 acres 

  Total: - 40.80 acres 

 

ZONING: - A1; Agricultural & RR2; Rural Residential 2 

 

  

196



116 

 

CURRENT ALR STATUS: 

  ALR Area Non-ALR Area 

  Lot A: - 11.52± acres    1.45± acres 

  Lot B: - 11.15± acres    2.72± acres 

  Lot C: - 12.64± acres    1.39± acres 

  Total: - 35.31± acres    5.56± acres 

 

TOPOGRAPHY: - Gently sloping 

 

TOTAL CAPITAL 

  EXPENDITURES: - Refer to Upper Oyama Farm for combined Lower & 

Upper expenditures  

197



117 

 

Figure 31 – Aerial Photo – Lower Oyama Farm 

   Subject  

 

  

 

  

198



118 

 

Figure 32 – ALR Map – District of Lake Country Lower Oyama Farm 

   Subject  

 

  

 

199



119 

 

Summary of Facts for Improvement Lands 
 

 

UPPER OYAMA FARM 

 

OVERVIEW: - The upper Oyama farm lands are located on the east side 

of Wood Lake at the corner of Allison Road and Oyama 

Road.  These four parcels have been leased by Coral 

Beach Farms Ltd. (David Geen), for a term of 20 years 

commencing November 1, 2011. 

 

PROPOSED IMPROVEMENTS: - Installation of trellis system on 14 acres of Regina 

cherries, similar to Cholla Hills Farm.  Work has just 

commenced and is currently underway on the trellis 

system installation. 

 

LEGAL DESCRIPTIONS: - Lots 26, 27, 28 & 29, Section 36, Township 20, Osoyoos 

Division Yale District, Plan 808, except plan Attached to 

DD 26871 

 

OWNERS: - Alan Arthur Marshall, & Donald Marie Marshall; 

 - Alarmar Investments Ltd., Inc. No. 188768 

 

SITE AREA:  

  Lot 26:  -   8.85 acres 

  Lot 27:  -   3.25 acres 

  Lots 28 & 29:  - 17.07 acres 

  Total:  - 29.17 acres. 

 

ZONING:  - A1; Agricultural 

 

CURRENT ALR STATUS:  - All included within the ALR 

 

TOTAL CAPITAL 

  EXPENDITURES 

  (UPPER & LOWER):  - Approximately $400,000 

200



120 

 

Figure 33 – Aerial Photo – Upper Oyama Farm 

   Subject  

 

  

 

 
  

201



121 

 

Figure 34 – ALR Map – Upper Oyama Farm 

   Subject  

 

 
 

 
  

202



122 

 

Summary of Facts for Improvement Lands 
 

 

HIGHWAY 33 

 

OVERVIEW: - The Highway 33 farm lands are located on the east side 

of Highway 33 immediately east of the Springfield Road 

intersection off Tamaki Lane.  These two parcels have 

been leased by Coral Beach Farms Ltd. (David Geen), 

for a term of 22 years commencing October 1, 2013. 

 

PROPOSED IMPROVEMENTS: - Land contouring, site preparation and irrigation, 

including breaking 25 acres of virgin ground. 

  

LEGAL DESCRIPTIONS: - Lots A & B, Section 24, Township 26, Osoyoos Division 

Yale District, Plan 28350, except Plan KAP81726 

 

OWNER: - Toyoko Tamaki (executrix of the estate of Masaru 

Tamaki) 

 

SITE AREA:  

  Lot A:     - 48.48 acres 

  Lot B:      18.78 acres 

  Total:     - 67.26 acres 

 

ZONING:    - A1; Agricultural 

 

CURRENT ALR STATUS:  - All included within the ALR 

 

TOTAL CAPITAL 

  EXPENDITURES:   - Approximately $600,000 

 

 

 

  

203



123 

 

Figure 35 – Aerial Photo –Highway 33 

   Subject  

 

  

204



124 

 

Figure 36 – ALR Map –Highway 33 

   Subject  

 

  

205



125 

 

Summary of Facts for Improvement Lands 
 

 

LAVINGTON LANDS 

 

OVERVIEW: - The Lavington farm lands are located north of Highway 

6 in Lavington, at Buchanan Road. 

 

PROPOSED IMPROVEMENTS: - Completion of land preparation and access road ways for 

95 acres of cherries. 

 - Completion of irrigation system installation  

 - Planting of 35,000 cherry trees.  (Plants, peat moss, 

labour). Planting to occur in 2013. 

 - Installation of rain covers (proposed for 2015). 

 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION: - Lot 4, Sections 23 and 26, Township 6, Osoyoos 

Division Yale District, Plan KAP56680 

  

OWNERS: - David Arthur Geen & Laura Lorraine Geen 

 

SITE AREA:    - 113.66 acres 

 

ZONING:    - A1; Agricultural 

 

CURRENT ALR STATUS:  - Included within the ALR 

 

TOPOGRAPHY:   - Gradually sloping 

 

TOTAL CAPITAL 

  EXPENDITURES:   - Approximately $2,080,000 

 

  

206



126 

 

Figure 37 – Aerial Photo – Lavington Lands 

   Subject  

 

  

207



127 

 

Figure 38 – ALR Map – Lavington Lands 

   Subject  

 

 

 

 

208



128 

 

Figure 39 – Aerial Orientation Map – Lavington Lands 

   Subject  

 

City of Vernon 

209



129 

 

Summary of Facts for Improvement Lands 
 

 

CHOLLA HILLS FARM 

 

OVERVIEW: - The Cholla Hills Farm lands are located along Siwash 

Creek Road, west of Vernon.  This parcel is owned by 

Emily and Eric Geen and Naswhito Creek Farms Ltd. 

 

PROPOSED IMPROVEMENTS: - Installation of state of the art Voen covers on 8 acres of 

cherries.  The covers are vented to allow them to stand 

up to wind storms, and prevent the buildup of heat and 

humidity under the covers.  They also act as protective 

covering from hail and birds.  Installation of Voen 

covers commenced this spring. 

 

 

 

  

210



130 

 

 - Installation of a trellis system on 15 acres of Regina 

cherries.  Regina is a German variety which is not 

widely planted yet in Canada due to the attention 

required for growing.  Trees were planted in 2012 with 

the intent of installing a Vee trellis and applying special 

training techniques in 2013.  The trellis will cant each 

tree in to alternating alleyways, at about 20 degrees from 

vertical inducing precocity.   

 

CIVIC ADDRESS:   - Site 11, Comp. 8, RR7 Station Main, 

      1 - 278 Siwash Creek Road, Vernon, BC, V1T 7Z3 

 

LEGAL DESCRIPTIONS:  - Lot 1, District Lot 511 & District Lot 511, Osoyoos 

Division Yale District, Plan 28829 

 

OWNERS:    - Emily Kaitlin Geen & Eric Gerald Geen 

 - Naswhito Creek Farms Ltd. 

        

CHOLLA HILLS FARM SITE AREA:  

  Lot 1:     - 160.40 acres 

  DL 511:    - 150.64 acres 

  Total:     - 311.04 acres 

 

ZONING:    - LH (Large Holdings) 

      

CURRENT ALR STATUS:   

  Lot 1:     - 57.99 acres included in the ALR 

  DL 511:    - 63.1 acres included in the ALR 

 

TOPOGRAPHY: - Area is predominately flat with increasing slope in the 

north west portion of the property. 

 

TOTAL CAPITAL 

  EXPENDITURES: - Approximately $270,000

211



131 

 

Figure 40 – Aerial View of Cholla Hills Farm 

Subject   Current ALR Boundary 

 

212



132 

 

Figure 41 – Agricultural Land Reserve Map – Cholla Hills Farm 

   Subject  

 

 
  

213



133 

 

Summary of Facts for Improvement Lands 
 

 

WIND MACHINES 

 

OVERVIEW: - The addition of wind machines help protect crops by 

pulling the warm air down into the orchard, raising 

temperatures and saving crops from the damaging effects 

of spring frosts and winter freezes. 

 

PROPOSED IMPROVEMENTS: - Installation of 9 ‘Orchard Rite’ wind machines.  Each 

costing ~$35,000. 

 

  

 

PROPERTY LOCATIONS: Cholla Hills Farm – 278 Siwash Creek Road, Vernon 

 Geen Family Farm – 16351 Carrs Landing Road,  

Lake Country 

 Rainbow Hill Farm – 12520 Pow Road, Lake Country 

 Glenmore Road Farm – 697 Valley Road N, Kelowna  

and 499 Valley Road N, Kelowna 

   

214

http://www.google.ca/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&frm=1&source=images&cd=&cad=rja&docid=OUGla1KDQzOMmM&tbnid=USUmxyQi2oqISM:&ved=0CAUQjRw&url=http://oliverwinery.wordpress.com/2010/08/11/our-biggest-fans-arrive-at-creekbend-vineyard/&ei=bIQBUobYCLL9iQK174HoCg&bvm=bv.50310824,d.cGE&psig=AFQjCNFrqm8xrsP3YfDf6zGXcnLUJ7QAXg&ust=1375916778978672
http://www.google.ca/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&frm=1&source=images&cd=&cad=rja&docid=J3ApI4OFZ83rGM&tbnid=TABrgyFr2j7d1M:&ved=0CAUQjRw&url=http://www.lakeviewvineyardequipment.com/equipment/details/index.php?categoryid=9&ei=i4QBUuW1KqWqigKtvICoCw&bvm=bv.50310824,d.cGE&psig=AFQjCNFrqm8xrsP3YfDf6zGXcnLUJ7QAXg&ust=1375916778978672


134 

 

OWNERS: Cholla Hills Farm – Geen Family and Naswhito Creek 

Farms Ltd 

 Geen Family Farm – David Geen 

 Rainbow Hill Farm – Coral Beach Farms Ltd 

 Glenmore Road Farm – Johannus Janmaat and Jane 

Reschke 

   

SITE AREA:  

   Cholla Hills Farm:  - 311± acres 

   Geen Family Farm:  - 110± acres 

   Rainbow Hill Farm: -   50± acres 

   Glenmore Road Farm:  -   12± acres 

   Total:  - 483± acres 

 

ZONING: - Various 

 

TOTAL CAPITAL 

  EXPENDITURES: - Approximately $315,000  

215



135 

 

Figure 42 – Proposed Wind Machine Locations 

 

 

 

216



136 

 

 

 

PROPOSED TOPSOIL RELOCATION 

– DAY PROPERTIES 

 

Days Dirt Ventures 

 

 

 

  

217



137 

 

Topsoil Relocation Lands – Day Properties 
 

 

STEVE DAY 

 

Steve Day is a third generation Kelowna farmer, following in the footsteps of his father, Ken Day, and his 

grandfather George Day.  Steve was born and raised in Kelowna, and has been farming in Kelowna for 

the past 27 years.  Steve, along with his brother Michael and mother Annie, currently farm 120 acres on 

Byrns Road in Kelowna, and own over 150 acres of land within the City of Kelowna.  Other members of 

the Day family still own and operate farms in other parts of the city. 

 

 

OWNERSHIP 

 

The Day family properties are owned by three separate ownership names.  The three properties on Byrnes 

Road are owned in the name of Kalsam Orchards Ltd and Steven Day, the gravel pits are owned by Day’s 

Dirt Ventures Inc, the orchard directly west of the gravel pit is owned by Kalsam Orchards Ltd and 

Michael Day, two of the orchards along Saucier Road are owned by Kalsam Orchards Ltd and the 

remaining two are owned by Annie Day. 

 

 

OVERVIEW 

 

Through the process of working with the City of Kelowna and with the community as a whole, the 

applicant has had numerous conversations with Steve Day, one of the adjoining orchardists, regarding the 

exclusion of the subject property.  To meet the ALC’s mandate: 

 reduce the impact on adjacent properties 

 improve the interface area through proper buffer planning. 

 

One opportunity that arose though conversation was the potential to relocate topsoil from the exclusion 

lands (soils under paved surfaces and buildings), and relocate the topsoil to Steve Day’s lands (or his 

family’s lands) to improve agriculture.  One property that has significant opportunity for agricultural 

improvement is the Day’s gravel pit, located at 4163, 4203 Bedford Road in Kelowna (approximately 5 

kilometres from the exclusion site).  The site consists of two properties that are used for gravel extraction, 

79% of which is in the ALR. 

218



138 

 

 

Upon closure or phased closure of the pit, the Day’s would remediate the site for agricultural purposes.  

The 15,000 cubic yards of topsoil would substantially increase the agricultural capability of the site and 

would significantly reduce remediation costs.  Figure 43 shows the Day’s gravel pit that would receive 

the topsoil. 

 

The empty trucks would be able to back-haul engineered fill and aggregate as needed for the exclusion 

site. 

 

 

TOPSOIL QUANTITY 

 

The topsoil proposed for relocation from the McIntosh Properties site is estimated to be approximately 

15,000 cubic yards. 

 

 

TOPSOIL VALUE 

 

Based on consultation and input from landscaping companies and contractors, the unscreened topsoil 

would command a value of approximately $10 per cubic yard. 

 

The value of the topsoil (in-situ) for 15,000 cubic yards at $10 per cubic yard is estimated at $150,000. 

 

The cost of removal, trucking and placement on the recipient site is estimated at $165,000. 

 

The budgeted cost to spread soil on the recipient site is estimated at $20,000, but can vary substantially 

depending on the recipient site’s remediation plan. 

 

The total agricultural improvement value for topsoil removal and relocation, as broken down above, is 

estimated at $335,000. 

 

  

219



139 

 

Summary of Facts for Improvement Lands 
 

 

DAY’S GRAVEL PIT 

 

OVERVIEW: - The gravel pit is located in southeast Kelowna, directly 

east of the Saucier Road and Bedford Road intersection. 

 

PROPOSED IMPROVEMENTS: - Relocation of 15,000 cubic yards of topsoil from the 

exclusion site to the gravel pit.  Based on preparation of 

the gravel pit, the topsoil could be spread upon arrival, 

or stockpiled until the site is ready. 

         

LEGAL DESCRIPTIONS: - Amended Lot 2 (DD D29969), Section 5, Township 26, 

and of Section 32, Township 29, Osoyoos Division Yale 

District Plan, KAP15793. 

  Lot 235, Section 32, Township 29, Osoyoos Division 

Yale District, Plan 1247 

   

OWNER: - DAYS DIRT VENTURES INC 

   

SITE AREA:  

  Lot 2: - 29.50 acres 

  Lot 235: - 13.39 acres 

  Total: - 42.89 acres. 

 

ZONING: - A1; Agricultural 

 

CURRENT ALR STATUS: 

  ALR Area Non-ALR Area 

  Lot 2: - 20.36± acres    9.14± acres 

  Lot 235: - 13.39± acres    0.00± acres 

  Total: - 33.75± acres    9.14± acres  

220



140 

 

Figure 43 – Day’s Gravel Pit  

   Subject; Gravel Pit  

 

  

Lot 2 

Lot 235 

221



141 

 

Figure 44 – Day’s Ownership of adjacent properties  

  Subject; Day’s Lands 

 

222



142 

 

Figure 45 – Day’s Ownership of adjacent properties and Agricultural Land Reserve 

  Subject; Day’s Lands 

  

223



143 

 

Figure 46 – Day’s Ownership on Byrns Road and Agricultural Land Reserve 

  Subject; Day’s Lands 

 

Subject Exclusion Property 

224



 

REPORT TO COUNCIL 
 
 
 

Date: September 13th, 2013 

RIM No. 1250-30 

To: City Manager 

From: Urban Planning, Community Planning and Real Estate (AW) 

Application: OCP10-0008/Z10-0040 Owner: 

John Ross Marrington 

Alana Vera Marrington 

John Phillip Balla 

 

Address: 
2149,2159,2169,2179,and 2189 
Pandosy Street, Kelowna  

Applicant: Alana Marrington 

Subject: Rezoning Application, Extension Request 

Existing Zone: RU6 – Two Dwelling Housing 

Proposed Zone: HD2 – Health District 2 

 

1.0 Recommendation 

THAT in accordance with Development Application Procedures Bylaw No. 10540, the deadline for 
the adoption of Official Community Plan Amending Bylaw No. 10440 and Zone Amending Bylaw 
No. 10439, for Lots  1, 2,and 3, District Lot 14, Osoyoos Division Yale District, Plan 5973 and Lots 
1 and 2, District Lot 14, Osoyoos Division Yale District Plan 3216 located on 2149, 2159,2169, 
2179,and 2189 Pandosy Street, Kelowna,BC, be extended from July 10, 2013  to July 10, 2014.  

2.0 Purpose  

To consider a final extension to facilitate the rezoning of the subject property from the RU6 – 
Two Dwelling Housing zone to the HD2 – Health District 2 zone in order to permit the construction 
of the proposed mixed-use development. 

3.0 Land Use Management  

Section 2.12.1 of Procedure Bylaw No. 10540 states that: 

In the event that an application made pursuant to this bylaw is one (1) year old or older and has 
been inactive for a period of six (6) months or greater: 
 

a) The application will be deemed to be abandoned and the applicant will be notified in writing 
that the file will be closed; 

225



Z10-0040/OCP10-0008 – Page 2 

 
 

b) Any bylaw that has not received final adoption will be of no force and effect; 

c) In the case of an amendment application, the City Clerk will place on the agenda of a meeting 
of Council a motion to rescind all readings of the bylaw associated with that Amendment 
application. 
 
Section 2.12.2 of the Procedure Bylaw makes provision that upon written request by the 
applicant prior to the lapse of the application, Council may extend the deadline for a period of 
twelve (12) months by passing a resolution to that affect. 
  
By-Law No. 10439 and 10440 received second and third readings on January 10, 2012 after the 
Public Hearing held on the same date. The applicant wishes to have this application remain open 
for an additional twelve (12) months in order to consider all options for the project. The 
following conditions must be addressed prior to forwarding the application for final approval: 
 

 Registration of a plan of subdivision to consolidate the properties into one title. 

 Requirements of the Development Engineering Branch being completed to their 
satisfaction 

 Final adoption of the zone amending bylaw be considered in conjunction with Council's 
consideration of a Development Permit on the subject properties. 

 
Although there hasn’t been significant activity the applicant has been in contact lately and has 
provided the attached letter supporting the request for an extension of the Zone and OCP 
amending Bylaws.   

Report prepared by: 

     
Alec Warrender, Land Use Planner  
/dc 
 
Reviewed by:    

     Danielle Noble, Manager, Urban Planning 
 

Approved for Inclusion  Doug Gilchrist, Divisional Director, Community Planning  
     and Real Estate 
 

Attachments:  

Site Plan 

226



227



228



229



230



Report to Council 
 

Date: 

 
September 18, 2013 
 

Rim No. 
 

1140-50 

To:  
 

City Manager 
 

From: 
 

R. Forbes, Manager, Property Management 

Subject: 
 

Report to Council Sept 23 - Lease to Okanagan Symphony 

 Report Prepared by: T. Abrahamson, Property Officer 

 

Recommendation: 
 
THAT Council approves the City entering into a five (5) year Lease Agreement, with the 
Okanagan Symphony Society, at the Knowles House at 865 Bernard Avenue for the purpose of 
office and storage space, with the option to renew for an additional five (5) year term at the 
City’s sole discretion, in the form attached to the Report of the Manager, Property 
Management, dated September 18, 2013.  
 
AND THAT the Mayor and City Clerk be authorized to execute the Lease Agreement. 
Purpose:  
 
To obtain Council endorsement of a five (5) year lease to Okanagan Symphony Orchestra 
Society for the use of the house at 865 Bernard Avenue.  
 
Background: 
 
The Knowles House, located at 865 Bernard Avenue, was recently occupied by the Alzheimer 
Society and became vacant in December 2012.   The home was built in 1907.  There has been 
an addition to the house that is in poor condition and needs to be removed.  The house 
requires renovations to return the building to its original form and character.  Rental revenue 
has been placed in a reserve to fund the renovations to the 106 year-old building, and 
continued revenue contributions will ensure funding for the restoration.  
 
The City received two proposals to rent the Knowles House.  The proposals came from the 
Okanagan Symphony Society (“OSO”) and the Central Okanagan Heritage Society (COHS).  A 
matrix was developed to evaluate the two proposals. The matrix criteria were as follows: 

 Sustainability of heritage maintenance; 

 Social/economic value to the community; 

 Broad community based organization; and, 

 Monetary value to the city. 
 

231



City Manager 
September 18, 2013 
Page 2 of 4 Pages 

 
 
The proposals were evaluated independently by 4 individuals with the OSO’s proposal deemed 
to have the most merit. On this basis, Staff has recommended moving forward with a lease to 
OSO.   
 
The OSO is currently renting second floor space on Springfield Road and seeking a larger space 
that would accommodate their office functions and storage space for the larger instruments.  
The wheelchair ramp at Knowles House would assist patrons and volunteers with mobility 
issues to access the office with greater ease, and also allow movement of the larger 
instruments to and from storage.  The door to the building at the end of the wheelchair ramp 
will have to be changed to a larger door to accommodate the movement of the instruments.   
The Urban Planning branch has identified that a Heritage Alteration Permit would not be 
required for this work.   
 
The OSO has indicated that proximity to Knowles Park opens up programming opportunities 
for small concerts in the park. 
 
Financial/Budgetary Considerations  
 
The proposed rental rate is $10,680.00 per annum plus GST for the first year of the term, and 
$13,680.00 per annum for the remainder of the term.  The rent reduction in the first year 
recognizes the minor interior renovations required by the OSO and the need for continued 
outside storage space while the renovations are underway.  OSO will be responsible for all 
utilities and property taxes associated with the lease. 
 
An option to renew at the City’s sole discretion is offered for a further five (5) year term.  A 
rent review will be conducted at that time to ensure market rent is achieved. 
 
Internal Circulation: 
Director, Financial Services 
Planner, Policy & Planning 
Manager, Urban Planning  
 
Considerations not applicable to this report: 
Legal/Statutory Authority: 
Legal/Statutory Procedural Requirements: 
Existing Policy: 
Personnel Implications: 
External Agency/Public Comments: 
Communications Comments: 
Alternate Recommendation: 
 
In light of the above, the Real Estate department requests Council’s endorsement of this 
Lease. 
 
Submitted by: R. Forbes, Manager, Property Management 
 
Approved for inclusion:   D. Edstrom, Director, Real Estate 
 

232



City Manager 
September 18, 2013 
Page 3 of 4 Pages 

 
 
Attachment: 

Lease 
 
cc:  K. Grayston, Director, Financial Services  
 L. Sanbrooks, Planner, Policy & Planning 
 D. Noble, Manager, Urban Planning 
  

233



City Manager 
September 18, 2013 
Page 4 of 4 Pages 

 
 

Subject Property 
 

 

234



235



236



237



238



239



240



241



242



243



244



245



246



247



248



249



250



251



252



253



254



255



256



257



258



259



260



261



262



263



264



265



266



267



268


	Agenda
	2. 2013-09-09 Regular PM Meeting Minutes.pdf
	4.1 Z12-0062 Council Report.docx
	4.1 z12-0062 attachments.pdf
	4.2 A13-0003 Report to Council (Revised).docx
	4.2 A13-0003 attachments.pdf
	4.2 McIntosh ALR Exclusion Application - August 14, 2013 - low res.pdf
	4.3 2013-09-23  Extension Report OCP10-0008 Z10-0040.docx
	4.3 2013-09-23 Attachments OCP10-0008 Z10-0040.pdf
	5.1 bl10881.pdf
	6.1 Report to Council Sept 23 - Lease to Okanagan Symphony.docx
	6.1 Okanagan Symphony Lease.pdf
	7.1 bl10863.pdf

